Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: October 28, 2021 ACCEPTED: December 3, 2021 PUBLISHED: December 22, 2021

Modular invariant holographic correlators for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM with general gauge group

Luis F. Alday,^a Shai M. Chester^b and Tobias Hansen^a

^a Mathematical Institute, University of Oxford, Woodstock Road, Oxford OX2 6GG, U.K.

E-mail: alday@maths.ox.ac.uk, iahs81@gmail.com, tobias.hansen@maths.ox.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We study the stress tensor four-point function for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM with gauge group $G = \mathrm{SU}(N)$, $\mathrm{SO}(2N+1)$, $\mathrm{SO}(2N)$ or $\mathrm{USp}(2N)$ at large N. When $G = \mathrm{SU}(N)$, the theory is dual to type IIB string theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ with complexified string coupling τ_s , while for the other cases it is dual to the orbifold theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5/\mathbb{Z}_2$. In all cases we use the analytic bootstrap and constraints from localization to compute 1-loop and higher derivative tree level corrections to the leading supergravity approximation of the correlator. We give perturbative evidence that the localization constraint in the large N and finite complexified coupling τ limit can be written for each G in terms of Eisenstein series that are modular invariant in terms of $\tau_s \propto \tau$, which allows us to fix protected terms in the correlator in that limit. In all cases, we find that the flat space limit of the correlator precisely matches the type IIB S-matrix. We also find a closed form expression for the SU(N) 1-loop Mellin amplitude with supergravity vertices. Finally, we compare our analytic predictions at large N and finite τ to bounds from the numerical bootstrap in the large N regime, and find that they are not saturated for any G and any τ , which suggests that no physical theory saturates these bootstrap bounds.

KEYWORDS: 1/N Expansion, AdS-CFT Correspondence, Conformal Field Theory, Extended Supersymmetry

ARXIV EPRINT: 2110.13106



^bDepartment of Particle Physics and Astrophysics, Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot, Israel

Contents

1	Introduction	2			
2	$\mathcal{N}=4$ stress-tensor four-point function	4			
	2.1 Basics	4			
	2.2 Strong coupling expansion	5			
	2.3 Constraints from flat space type IIB string theory	7			
3	Constraints from supersymmetric localization	8			
	3.1 $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ sphere free energy at finite N	9			
	3.2 $1/N$ expansions	11			
	3.3 Constraining the stress-tensor correlator	14			
4	Stress-tensor correlator at 1-loop	15			
	4.1 One-loop from tree level	15			
	4.2 Mellin amplitude	17			
	4.3 Flat space limit	21			
	4.4 Fixing 1-loop contact term from localization	22			
	4.5 Extracting CFT data	22			
5	5 Comparison to numerical bootstrap				
\mathbf{A}	Matrix model calculations	26			
в	Closed form for $R R$ Mellin amplitude in $\mathrm{SU}(N)$	28			
\mathbf{C}	1-loop localization integral in Mellin space	30			
D	Lorentzian inversion	32			
\mathbf{E}	Mixed correlator bootstrap setup	34			
	E.1 Superconformal blocks	36			
	E.2 Free theory	38			
	E.3 Short sector in the interacting theory	40			
	E.4 Short contributions to reduced correlators	41			

1 Introduction

Holographic correlators are correlation functions in a CFT_d that are dual to scattering of particles in string theory or M-theory on AdS_{d+1} times some compact manifold. Starting from [1, 2], they have been computed at leading order tree level [3–13], higher derivative tree level [14–22], and 1-loop [15, 23–32] in various d. In 4d, the simplest maximally supersymmetric example relates the stress tensor multiplet four-point function in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SU(N) SYM to scattering of gravitons of type IIB string theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5$. Since the complexified gauge coupling $\tau = \frac{\theta}{2\pi} + i \frac{4\pi}{g_{YM}^2}$ transforms under SL(2, Z) duality invariance, the correlators can be computed at large N and finite τ in terms of modular functions like Eisenstein series, which in the flat space limit precisely match the prediction from the strongly coupled string theory S-matrix [21, 22], which is also expected to be modular invariant in terms of the complexified string coupling $\tau_s = \chi + i/g_s$. In the small Im τ limit, these results reproduce the large N and large 't Hooft coupling $\lambda \equiv g_{YM}^2 N$ expansion, which is dual to weakly coupled string theory, and is not sensitive to Re $\tau = \text{Re } \tau_s$.

In this paper, we will generalize this $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM story to general gauge group G =SU(N), SO(2N+1), SO(2N) or USp(2N). While the SU(N) case is dual to $AdS_5 \times S^5$, the other three groups are dual to the orbifold theory $AdS_5 \times S^5/\mathbb{Z}_2$, so from the bulk perspective there are two classes of theories: non-orbifold and orbifold. At tree level supergravity, the correlators for the two cases are identical, but they start to differ at higher derivative corrections and at loop level. As in the previously studied SU(N) case, we will fix the protected R^4 tree level corrections using the localization constraint derived in [17], which related an integral of the correlator to derivatives $\partial_{\tau} \partial_{\bar{\tau}} \partial_m^2 F(m)|_{m=0}$ of the mass deformed $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ free energy. This latter quantity was computed using localization in terms of a $\operatorname{Rank}(G)$ dimensional matrix model integral [33], which we computed to any order in large N and finite $\lambda \sim g_{\rm YM}^2 N$ following the SU(N) case considered in [15]. At large λ , this computes the perturbative contributions to the large N finite τ limit, which we find are consistent with an expansion in Eisenstein series, as in the SU(N) case. We then use the known type IIB S-matrix in the flat space limit of the holographic correlator to further constrain terms at large N, which confirms our answer for R^4 and allows us to further fix $D^4 R^4$.

One novelty of the general gauge group case relative to SU(N) is that the transformation under S-duality [34–36] is more subtle. In general, gauge groups transform to their Langlands (i.e. GNO) dual under S-duality [37]. While SU(N) and SO(2N) thus transform to themselves with $\tau \to -1/\tau$, up to discrete subgroups and theta angles that do not effect the quantities we consider [37–39],¹ SO(2N + 1) transforms to USp(2N)with $\tau \to -1/(2\tau)$. Consistent with this non-trivial transformation, we find perturbative evidence that the USp(2N) localization quantity is expanded in Eisenstein series with argument 2τ , as opposed to τ for the other cases. If we write these quantities in terms of τ_s , however, then from the AdS/CFT dictionary $\tau_s = 2\tau$ for USp(2N) and $\tau_s = \tau$ for the other gauge groups, we find that results in all cases are modular invariant in terms of τ_s . This had to be the case in the flat space limit where the type IIB S-matrix is modular

¹The precise dual of SU(N) is $SU(N)/\mathbb{Z}_N$, while for SO(2N) it is $SO(2N)/\mathbb{Z}_2$ [37].

invariant in terms of τ_s , but it is remarkable that this modularity is inherited by a priori less restricted CFT quantities dual to string theory on AdS.

We then compute the 1-loop correction coming from supergravity R and R^4 vertices for both the orbifold and SU(N) cases, using the unitarity cut method of [40]. This requires an unmixing of double trace operators formed by two half-BPS operators labeled by their superprimary dimension p, e.g. p = 2 is the stress tensor. In the SU(N) case there are contributions from all $p \ge 2$, and our answer reproduces previous results [23, 24, 28, 41], except that we have now been able to resum the double sum Mellin space expression of [28], see (B.4). For the orbifold case only even p contributes, and the resulting 1-loop term looks very different from the SU(N) case, yet in the flat space limit each case differs just by a power of 2 as expected from the orbifold factor in their bulk duals. Finally, for the 1-loop supergravity term we fix the unique contact term ambiguity using the previously described localization constraint, and find that the orbifold case differs from the SU(N) case by the same factor of 2, which did not have to be the case since this contact term is subleading in the flat space limit.

One motivation for studying the orbifold theories is that their CFT data at large N is bigger than the SU(N) case, so if any physical theory saturates the numerical bootstrap bounds of [42, 43], it would be the orbifold case for some value of τ . Unfortunately, we find that our large N finite τ predictions for CFT data do not saturate the bootstrap bounds at large N for either case, even at the self dual point $\tau = e^{i\pi/3}$ that was conjectured to saturate the bounds in [43]. Furthermore, we computed bounds using both the single correlator setup in [42, 43] as well as the mixed correlator setup in [44] (which included p = 2, 3 half-BPS operators), and found that the upper bounds were almost indistinguishable at large N, even though the mixed correlator setup does not apply to the orbifold theories (since they do not contain odd p half-BPS operators), so we would have expected SU(N) to saturate the mixed bounds and the other cases to saturate the single correlator bounds.

Looking ahead, it would be nice to compute the other localization constraint $\partial_m^4 F|_{m=0}$ to all orders in 1/N for general gauge group, as was done for $\mathrm{SU}(N)$ in [45], and to try to find the finite N and τ formulae for both constraints, as has been done for $\partial_{\tau}\partial_{\bar{\tau}}\partial_m^2 F(m)|_{m=0}$ for the $\mathrm{SU}(N)$ case in [46]. This will involve computing the instanton contributions to these quantities for general gauge group, which we did not consider in this paper. Finally, if we eventually want to make contact between numerical bootstrap and large N analytics, it will probably be necessary to further constrain the numerical bootstrap by directly imposing the localization constraints as a function of τ .

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we review the constraints of superconformal symmetry on the stress tensor correlator, as well as its strong coupling expansion and constraints from type IIB string theory in the flat space limit. In section 3, we compute the non-instanton part of $\partial_{\tau} \partial_{\bar{\tau}} \partial_m^2 F(m)|_{m=0}$ for general gauge group both at finite N and λ , and in the large N and finite $g_{\rm YM}$ limit (neglecting instantons), which we find is nontrivially consistent with an expansion in Eisenstein series. In section 4, we compute the 1-loop amplitudes with R and R^4 vertices, check their flat space limit, fix the 1-loop supergravity contact term ambiguity using the localization constraint, and extract CFT data. Finally, in section 5 we compare this large N analytic data to the numerical bootstrap bounds recomputed at very high precision, and find that they do not saturate the bounds. Several technical details are given in various appendices, and we include a Mathematica notebook with explicit results as supplementary material.

2 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ stress-tensor four-point function

We begin by reviewing what is already known about the stress tensor multiplet four-point function. First we discuss general constraints from the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ superconformal group. Then we discuss the two different large N strong coupling expansions for SYM with general gauge group in Mellin space: the expansion at finite τ , as well as the more standard 't Hooft expansion at large $\lambda \sim g_{\rm YM}^2 N$. Lastly, we discuss how the 10d flat space type IIB string theory S-matrix can be used to constrain the SYM correlator by taking the flat space limit.

2.1 Basics

Let us denote the bottom component of the stress tensor multiplet by S. This operator is a dimension 2 scalar in the **20'** of the $SU(4)_R \cong SO(6)_R$, and can thus be represented as a rank-two traceless symmetric tensor $S_{IJ}(\vec{x})$, with indices $I, J = 1, \ldots, 6$. For simplicity we will contract these indices with null polarization vectors Y^I , where $Y \cdot Y = 0$. We are interested in studying the four-point function $\langle SSSS \rangle$, which is fixed by conformal and SU(4) symmetry to take the form

$$\langle S(\vec{x}_1, Y_1) S(\vec{x}_2, Y_2) S(\vec{x}_3, Y_3) S(\vec{x}_4, Y_4) \rangle = \frac{Y_{12}^2 Y_{34}^2}{x_{12}^4 x_{34}^4} \mathcal{S}(U, V; \sigma, \tau) , \qquad (2.1)$$

where we define

$$U \equiv \frac{x_{12}^2 x_{34}^2}{x_{13}^2 x_{24}^2}, \qquad V \equiv \frac{x_{14}^2 x_{23}^2}{x_{13}^2 x_{24}^2}, \qquad \sigma \equiv \frac{(Y_1 \cdot Y_3)(Y_2 \cdot Y_4)}{(Y_1 \cdot Y_2)(Y_3 \cdot Y_4)}, \qquad \tau \equiv \frac{(Y_1 \cdot Y_4)(Y_2 \cdot Y_3)}{(Y_1 \cdot Y_2)(Y_3 \cdot Y_4)}.$$
(2.2)

The constraints of superconformal symmetry are given by the Ward identity in [47], whose solution can be formally solved in two different ways. The first solution takes the form

$$\mathcal{S}(U,V;\sigma,\tau) = \mathcal{S}_{\text{free}}(U,V;\sigma,\tau) + \Theta(U,V;\sigma,\tau)\mathcal{T}(U,V),$$

$$\Theta(U,V;\sigma,\tau) \equiv \tau + [1-\sigma-\tau]V + \tau[\tau-1-\sigma]U + \sigma[\sigma-1-\tau]UV + \sigma V^2 + \sigma\tau U^2,$$
(2.3)

where $S_{\text{free}}(U, V; \sigma, \tau)$ is the free theory correlator

$$S_{\text{free}}(U,V;\sigma,\tau) = 1 + U^2 \sigma^2 + \frac{U^2}{V^2} \tau^2 + \frac{1}{c} \left(U\sigma + \frac{U}{V}\tau + \frac{U^2}{V}\sigma\tau \right), \qquad (2.4)$$

so that all non-trivial interacting information is given by the *R*-symmetry invariant correlator $\mathcal{T}(U, V)$. The second solution takes the form [43]

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S}(U,V;\sigma,\tau) &= \Theta(U,V;\sigma,\tau)\mathcal{G}(U,V) + \Phi_1(z,\bar{z};\sigma,\tau)f_1(z) + \Phi_3(z,\bar{z};\sigma,\tau)f_2(z) \\ &+ (\Phi_1(\bar{z},z;\sigma,\tau) - \Phi_2(U;\sigma,\tau))f_1(\bar{z}) + (\Phi_3(\bar{z},z;\sigma,\tau) - \Phi_2(U;\sigma,\tau))f_2(\bar{z}) + \Phi_2(U;\sigma,\tau)f_3(z) \,, \end{aligned}$$
(2.5)

where Θ is the same as in (2.3) and we define

$$U = z\bar{z}, \quad V = (1-z)(1-\bar{z}), \quad \Phi_1 \equiv \frac{z\bar{z}}{z-\bar{z}} + \frac{z^2\bar{z}\tau}{(z-\bar{z})(1-z)} + \frac{z\bar{z}^2\sigma}{\bar{z}-z}, \quad \Phi_2 \equiv \sigma U,$$

$$\Phi_3 \equiv \frac{z(\bar{z}-1)}{z-\bar{z}} + \frac{z^2\bar{z}\sigma^2}{\bar{z}-z} + \frac{z^2\bar{z}\tau^2 + z^2\bar{z}(z-2)\sigma\tau + z(z+\bar{z}-2z\bar{z})\tau}{(z-1)(z-\bar{z})} + \frac{z(z+\bar{z}-\bar{z}^2)\sigma}{z-\bar{z}}.$$

(2.6)

If we then equate (2.5) to (2.3), we find that the free theory correlator fixes the holomorphic functions f_j to be

$$f_1(z) = 2 + \frac{1}{c} - \frac{1}{z} + \frac{1}{z-1}, \qquad f_2(z) = 1 + \frac{1}{c} - z + \frac{1}{1-z}, \qquad f_3(z) = \frac{1}{c} + z + \frac{1}{z},$$
(2.7)

while the remaining free part contributes to $\mathcal{G}(U, V)$, which is then related to $\mathcal{T}(U, V)$ as

$$\mathcal{T}(U,V) = \mathcal{G}(U,V) - \left[1 + \frac{1}{V^2} + \frac{1}{c}\frac{1}{V}\right].$$
(2.8)

We can expand $\mathcal{G}(U, V)$ in terms of long and short multiplets as

$$\mathcal{G}(U,V) = U^{-2} \sum_{\Delta,\ell} \lambda_{\Delta,\ell}^2 G_{\Delta+4,\ell}(U,V) + \mathcal{F}_{\text{short}}^{(0)}(z,\bar{z}) + c^{-1} \mathcal{F}_{\text{short}}^{(1)}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where $G_{\Delta,\ell}(U,V)$ with scaling dimension Δ and spin ℓ are 4d conformal blocks

$$G_{\Delta,\ell}(U,V) = \frac{z\bar{z}}{z-\bar{z}} (k_{\Delta+\ell}(z)k_{\Delta-\ell-2}(\bar{z}) - k_{\Delta+\ell}(\bar{z})k_{\Delta-\ell-2}(z)),$$

$$k_h(z) \equiv z^{\frac{h}{2}} {}_2F_1(h/2,h/2,h,z),$$
(2.10)

while the short multiplets OPE coefficients do not depend on the coupling and so can be computed from the free theory to give the exact expressions $\mathcal{F}_{\text{short}}^{(0)}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{\text{short}}^{(1)}$ given in [43]. All non-trivial interacting information in this formulation is then given by Δ and ℓ for the long multiplets.

2.2 Strong coupling expansion

We now restrict our discussion to the case of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM with gauge groups SU(N), SO(2N + 1), SO(2N), or USp(2N). The conformal anomaly is the dimension of the group divided by four, which for each case gives

$$c_{\mathrm{SU}(N)} = \frac{N^2 - 1}{4}, \qquad c_{\mathrm{SO}(2N)} = \frac{2N^2 - N}{4}, \qquad c_{\mathrm{SO}(2N+1)} = c_{\mathrm{USp}(2N)} = \frac{2N^2 + N}{4}.$$
(2.11)

We will consider two strong coupling limits at large c. In the 't Hooft limit, we define a 't Hooft coupling λ for each gauge group as

$$\lambda_{\mathrm{SU}(N)} \equiv g_{\mathrm{YM}}^2 N , \qquad \lambda_{\mathrm{SO}(2N)} \equiv g_{\mathrm{YM}}^2 \left(N - \frac{1}{4} \right) ,$$

$$\lambda_{\mathrm{SO}(2N+1)} \equiv g_{\mathrm{YM}}^2 \left(N + \frac{1}{4} \right) , \qquad \lambda_{\mathrm{USp}(2N)} \equiv \frac{1}{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^2 \left(N + \frac{1}{4} \right) ,$$

$$(2.12)$$

and then consider the limit of large c with fixed λ , and then large λ . We will also consider the very strong coupling limit where we keep the complexified coupling τ finite, from which we can recover the 't Hooft strong coupling limit by expanding in small τ . For either strong coupling expansion, it is convenient to consider the Mellin transform M of \mathcal{T} via

$$\mathcal{T}(U,V) = \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{ds \, dt}{(4\pi i)^2} U^{\frac{s}{2}} V^{\frac{t}{2}-2} \Gamma \left[2 - \frac{s}{2}\right]^2 \Gamma \left[2 - \frac{t}{2}\right]^2 \Gamma \left[2 - \frac{u}{2}\right]^2 M(s,t) \,, \tag{2.13}$$

where $u \equiv 4 - s - t$. Crossing symmetry M(s,t) = M(t,s) = M(s,u) and the analytic properties of the Mellin amplitude then restrict M(s,t) to have a 1/c and $1/\lambda$ expansion of the form (for a detailed description, see [15])

$$\begin{split} M &= \frac{1}{c} \left[8M^{R} + \frac{B_{0}^{R^{4}}M^{0}}{\lambda^{\frac{3}{2}}} + \frac{1}{\lambda^{\frac{5}{2}}} [B_{2}^{D^{4}R^{4}}M^{2} + B_{0}^{D^{4}R^{4}}M^{0}] \\ &+ \frac{1}{\lambda^{3}} [B_{3}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{3} + B_{2}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{2} + B_{0}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{0}] + O\left(\lambda^{-\frac{7}{2}}\right) \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{c^{2}} \left[\lambda^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{B}_{0}^{R^{4}}M^{0} + [M^{R|R} + \bar{B}_{0}^{R|R}M^{0}] + \frac{1}{\lambda} [\bar{B}_{3}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{3} + \bar{B}_{2}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{2} + \bar{B}_{0}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{0}] + O\left(\lambda^{-\frac{3}{2}}\right) \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{c^{3}} \left[\lambda^{\frac{3}{2}} \bar{B}_{2}^{D^{4}R^{4}}M^{2} + \lambda \left[\bar{B}_{3}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{3} + \bar{B}_{2}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{2} + \bar{B}_{0}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{0} \right] + O\left(\lambda^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{c^{4}} \left[\lambda^{3} \left[\bar{\bar{B}}_{3}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{3} + \bar{\bar{B}}_{2}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{2} + \bar{\bar{B}}_{0}^{D^{6}R^{4}}M^{0} \right] + O\left(\lambda^{\frac{5}{2}}\right) \right] + O(c^{-5}), \end{split}$$
(2.14)

where the B's are numerical coefficients that cannot be fixed from symmetry alone. Here, A|B refers to a term that receives contributions from a 1-loop Witten diagrams with A, Bvertices.² Terms at order $1/c^{g+1}$ correspond in the flat space limit to genus-g corrections to the type IIB S-matrix in the small g_s expansion. On AdS₅, these terms receive contributions from l-loop Witten diagrams with $l \leq g$. The leading order term is tree-level supergravity [48, 49]

$$M^{R} = \frac{1}{(s-2)(t-2)(u-2)},$$
(2.15)

whose coefficient is fixed by requiring that the unprotected R-symmetry singlet of dimension two that appears in the conformal block decomposition of the free part S_{free} in (2.3) is not present in the full correlator [2]. The M^n terms in (2.14) arise from contact Witten diagrams with vertices of the form $D^{2n}R^4$ and are degree *n* crossing symmetric polynomials [49]

$$M^0 = 1$$
 $M^2 = s^2 + t^2 + u^2$, $M^3 = stu$. (2.16)

The 1-loop term $M^{R|R}$ arises from a loop Witten diagram with two R vertices and scales as c^{-2} , and so includes a constant contact term ambiguity. We will discuss this 1-loop term

²These terms can also receive contributions from other Witten diagrams that contribute at the same order, such as cubic supergravity vertices for R|R. Abstractly, each Mellin amplitude is simply an allowed solution to the analytic bootstrap constraints at the given order in c and λ .

more in section 4, along with other 1-loop terms $M^{R|R^4}$ and $M^{R^4|R^4}$ that scale as $c^{-2}\lambda^{-\frac{5}{2}}$ and $c^{-2}\lambda^{-3}$, respectively, and so include several contact term ambiguities. The analytic bootstrap similarly restricts the 1/c and finite τ expansion to be

$$M = \frac{8}{c}M^{R} + \frac{1}{c^{\frac{7}{4}}}\tilde{B}_{0}^{R^{4}}(\tau,\bar{\tau})M^{0} + \frac{1}{c^{2}}[M^{R|R} + \overline{B}_{0}^{R|R}M^{0}] + \frac{1}{c^{\frac{9}{4}}}[\tilde{B}_{2}^{D^{4}R^{4}}(\tau,\bar{\tau})M^{2} + \tilde{B}_{0}^{D^{4}R^{4}}(\tau,\bar{\tau})M^{0}] + \frac{1}{c^{\frac{5}{2}}}[\tilde{B}_{3}^{D^{6}R^{4}}(\tau,\bar{\tau})M^{3} + \tilde{B}_{2}^{D^{6}R^{4}}(\tau,\bar{\tau})M^{2} + \tilde{B}_{0}^{D^{6}R^{4}}(\tau,\bar{\tau})M^{0}] + O\left(c^{-\frac{11}{4}}\right),$$
(2.17)

where the \tilde{B} 's now depend on τ except the R|R terms, which are the same as in the 't Hooft expansion. Next, we will discuss how some of these coefficients can be fixed by comparing to type IIB string theory in the flat space limit.

2.3 Constraints from flat space type IIB string theory

The type IIB string theory S-matrix is restricted by supersymmetry to be proportional to a single function f(s,t)

$$\mathcal{A}(s,t) = \mathcal{A}_R(s,t)f(s,t), \qquad (2.18)$$

where s, t, u = -s - t are 10d Mandelstam variables and \mathcal{A}_R is the tree-level four-point supergravity amplitude given in e.g. [50]. We can expand at small string length ℓ_s to get

$$f(s,t) = 1 + \ell_s^6 f_{R^4} + \ell_s^8 f_{R|R} + \ell_s^{10} f_{D^4 R^4} + \ell_s^{12} f_{D^6 R^4} + \ell_s^{14} f_{R|R^4} + \dots, \qquad (2.19)$$

where each coefficient depends non-trivially on the complexified string coupling $\tau_s = \chi_s + i/g_s$. The lowest few corrections are protected, and so can be computed in terms of modular functions as [51–54]

$$f_{R^4} = \frac{stu}{64} g_s^{\frac{3}{2}} E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right) ,$$

$$f_{D^4 R^4} = \frac{stu(s^2 + t^2 + u^2)}{2^{11}} g_s^{\frac{5}{2}} E\left(\frac{5}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right) ,$$

$$f_{D^6 R^4} = \frac{3(stu)^2}{2^{12}} g_s^3 \mathcal{E}\left(3, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right) .$$

(2.20)

The definition of $\mathcal{E}\left(3, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)$ is given in [22, 55] and will not be used in this work, while the other modular functions are Eisenstein series $E(r, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s)$, which can be expanded at small g_s as

$$E(r,\tau_s,\bar{\tau}_s) = \frac{2\zeta(2r)}{g_s^r} + 2\sqrt{\pi}g_s^{r-1}\frac{\Gamma\left(r-\frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(r)}\zeta(2r-1) + \frac{2\pi^r}{\Gamma(r)\sqrt{g_s}}\sum_{k\neq 0}|k|^{r-\frac{1}{2}}\sigma_{1-2r}(|k|)K_{r-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi g_s^{-1}|k|)e^{2\pi ik\chi_s},$$
(2.21)

where the divisor sum $\sigma_p(k)$ is defined as $\sigma_p(k) = \sum_{d>0,d|k} d^p$, and $K_{r-\frac{1}{2}}$ is the Bessel function of second kind. Note that each Eisenstein series includes only two perturbative

in g_s terms, which implies that in the small g_s expansion f_{R^4} and $f_{D^4R^4}$ get corrections at only genus 1 and 2, respectively. The modular function $\mathcal{E}\left(3, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)$ only has four perturbative terms [22, 55], so $f_{D^6R^4}$ is only corrected up to genus 3. The small ℓ_s expansion in 10d maps to the large $c \sim N^2$ expansion in SYM for the various gauge groups according to the dictionary [56–58]:

$$SU(N): \qquad \frac{L^{4}}{\ell_{s}^{4}} = g_{YM}^{2}N = \lambda, \qquad \tau_{s} = \tau,$$

$$SO(2N): \qquad \frac{L^{4}}{\ell_{s}^{4}} = 2g_{YM}^{2}\left(N - \frac{1}{4}\right) = 2\lambda, \qquad \tau_{s} = \tau,$$

$$SO(2N+1): \qquad \frac{L^{4}}{\ell_{s}^{4}} = 2g_{YM}^{2}\left(N + \frac{1}{4}\right) = 2\lambda, \qquad \tau_{s} = \tau,$$

$$USp(2N): \qquad \frac{L^{4}}{\ell_{s}^{4}} = g_{YM}^{2}\left(N + \frac{1}{4}\right) = 2\lambda, \qquad \tau_{s} = 2\tau.$$

$$(2.22)$$

The flat space limit formula [17, 45, 59, 60] then relates the Mellin amplitude to the 10d amplitude defined in (2.19) as

$$f(s,t) = \frac{stu}{32} \lim_{L/\ell_s \to \infty} L^6 c \int_{\kappa-i\infty}^{\kappa+i\infty} \frac{d\alpha}{2\pi i} e^{\alpha} \alpha^{-6} M\left(\frac{L^2}{2\alpha}s, \frac{L^2}{2\alpha}t\right), \qquad (2.23)$$

where the dependence on the different SYM gauge groups comes from the relationship between L, ℓ_s , and the CFT parameters c and λ or τ in (2.22). We can apply this to M^{R^4} in the finite τ expansion (2.17) to fix its coefficient to be

$$\tilde{B}_{0}^{R^{4}}(\tau,\bar{\tau}) = \frac{15}{4\sqrt{2\pi^{3}\mathfrak{o}^{\frac{3}{4}}}} E\left(\frac{3}{2},\tau_{s},\bar{\tau}_{s}\right), \qquad (2.24)$$

where recall that the orbifold theories (SO(2N + 1), SO(2N) and USp(2N)) differ from SU(N) by a power of 2 due to the different AdS/CFT dictionary (2.22), which we denote using the orbifold factor \mathfrak{o} , which is 1 for SU(N) and 2 for the orbifold theories. Also, $\tau_s = \tau$ for all theories except USp(2N) with $\tau_s = 2\tau$. The 't Hooft expansion can then be recovered by looking at the perturbative terms in the Eisenstein series and writing g_{YM} in terms of λ and c to get

$$B_0^{R^4} = \frac{120\zeta(3)}{\mathbf{o}^{\frac{3}{2}}}, \qquad \bar{B}_0^{R^4} = \frac{5}{8\mathbf{o}^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
 (2.25)

The flat space constraint is not sufficient to completely fix the other Mellin amplitudes, but can be used together with other methods that we will now describe.

3 Constraints from supersymmetric localization

There are two known constraints on the stress tensor correlator coming from supersymmetric localization. The first relates mixed τ and hypermultiplet mass m derivatives of

the $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ sphere free energy $F = -\log Z$ to the integrated correlator in Mellin space as [17, 45]

$$c^{2}I_{2}[M(s,t)] = \frac{c}{8} \frac{\partial_{m}^{2} \partial_{\tau} \partial_{\bar{\tau}} F}{\partial_{\tau} \partial_{\bar{\tau}} F}\Big|_{m=0}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where the integral is defined as

$$I_2[M(s,t)] \equiv -\frac{1}{8} \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{ds \, dt}{(2\pi i)^2} \Gamma\left[2 - \frac{s}{2}\right] \Gamma\left[\frac{s}{2}\right] \Gamma\left[2 - \frac{t}{2}\right] \Gamma\left[\frac{t}{2}\right] \Gamma\left[2 - \frac{s}{2} - \frac{t}{2}\right] \Gamma\left[\frac{s+t}{2}\right] M(s,t) \,. \tag{3.2}$$

The second constraint relates $\partial_m^4 F|_{m=0}$ to a different integral of the correlator whose explicit form is given in [45], but which we will not consider in detail in this paper. The $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ sphere partition function for general gauge group G was computed using supersymmetric localization in [33] to get

$$Z(m) = \frac{1}{|W|} \int d^r a |Z_{\text{inst}}(m,\tau,a)|^2 e^{-\frac{8\pi^2 N}{\lambda}(a,a)} \frac{1}{H(m)^r} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta} \frac{\alpha(a)H(\alpha(a))}{H(\alpha(a)+m)},$$
(3.3)

where r denotes the rank of G, W is the Weyl group, (a, a) is the Killing form for the choice of basis,³ Δ is the set of roots, and H(z) is a product of two Barnes G-functions, namely $H(z) = e^{-(1+\gamma)z^2}G(1+iz)G(1-iz)$. The quantity $|Z_{inst}(m,\tau,a)|^2$ represents the contribution to the localized partition function coming from instantons located at the North and South poles of S^4 [61–64]. In this section, we will first compute the relevant derivatives of Z(m) for G = SU(N), SO(2N), SO(2N + 1), USp(2N) at finite N and λ but neglecting the instanton term. Then we will expand to all orders in 1/c and large λ , where instantons would not contribute anyway because they are non-perturbative in the 't Hooft limit [65]. We will then write λ in terms of c and τ to compute the perturbative contributions to the large c finite τ limit, which can be conjecturally completed to finite τ Eisenstein series for each gauge group, as was proven in the SU(N) case in [21, 22]. Finally, we will plug these results into the constraint (3.1) to fix the R^4 term in the correlator, which matches the results from the flat space limit, and to fix the D^4R^4 term by also using the flat space limit.

3.1 $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ sphere free energy at finite N

If we neglect the instanton term in (3.3), then we can compute Z(m) in a small m expansion for finite N and λ for any gauge group using the method of orthogonal polynomials [66]. For instance, at m = 0 the free energy for each gauge group is shown in appendix A to be⁴

$$F(0) = -4c \log g_{\rm YM} + g_{\rm YM} \text{-independent}, \qquad (3.4)$$

where recall that c is defined differently for each gauge group. We can then simplify the quantity on the r.h.s. of (3.1) to be

$$\mathcal{F} \equiv -\frac{1}{16g_{\rm YM}^4} \partial_m^2 \partial_{g_{\rm YM}^{-2}}^2 F\big|_{m=0} \,, \tag{3.5}$$

³The Killing form is given by $\frac{1}{2T_r}$ tr_r, where tr_r is the usual trace in the representation r, and T_r is the Dynkin index.

⁴Since $|Z_{inst}(0,\tau,a)|^2 = 1$, this result also holds in general.

where θ does not appear because we have ignored instantons. We can then take the mass derivatives of the localized partition function in (3.3) for each gauge group to get

-4

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)} = \frac{g_{\mathrm{YM}}}{16} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-2}} \sum_{i \neq j} \langle K'(a_i - a_j) \rangle ,$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SO}(2N)} = \frac{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-4}}{16} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-2}} \sum_{i \neq j} \left[\langle K'(a_i - a_j) \rangle + \langle K'(a_i + a_j) \rangle \right] ,$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SO}(2N+1)} = \frac{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-4}}{16} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-2}} \left[\sum_{i} \langle K'(a_i) \rangle + \sum_{i \neq j} \left[\langle K'(a_i - a_j) \rangle + \langle K'(a_i + a_j) \rangle \right] \right] ,$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{USp}(2N)} = \frac{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-4}}{16} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-2}} \left[\sum_{i} \langle K'(2a_i) \rangle + \sum_{i \neq j} \left[\langle K'(a_i - a_j) \rangle + \langle K'(a_i + a_j) \rangle \right] \right] ,$$

$$(3.6)$$

where the expectation values are taken in terms of the zero mass partition function, and $K(z) \equiv -\frac{H'(z)}{H(z)}$ can be conveniently written in terms of its Fourier transform

$$K'(z) = -\int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{2\omega [\cos(2\omega z) - 1]}{\sinh^2 \omega} \,. \tag{3.7}$$

As shown in appendix A, the zero mass partition functions are Gaussian matrix models, so we can compute the expectation values of the exponential (3.7) in these ensembles using orthogonal polynomials following [67] to get

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)} &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\omega g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-4}}{8\sinh^{2} \omega} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2-2}}^{2-2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} e^{\frac{-\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}}} \left[L_{i-1} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) L_{j-1} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) \right], \\ &- (-1)^{i-j} L_{i-1}^{j-i} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) L_{j-1}^{i-j} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) \right], \\ \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SO}(2N)} &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\omega g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-4}}{4\sinh^{2} \omega} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2-2}}^{2-2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} e^{\frac{-\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}}} \left[L_{2(i-1)} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) L_{2(j-1)} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) \right], \\ \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SO}(2N+1)} &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\omega g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-4}}{4\sinh^{2} \omega} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2-2}}^{2-2} \left(e^{\frac{-\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}}} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} \left[L_{2i-1} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) L_{2(j-1)} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) \right], \\ \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SO}(2N+1)} &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\omega g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-4}}{4\sinh^{2} \omega} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2-2}}^{2-2} \left(e^{\frac{-\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}}} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} \left[L_{2i-1} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) L_{2j-1} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) \right], \\ \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{USp}(2N)} &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\omega g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-4}}{4\sinh^{2} \omega} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2-2}}^{2-2} \left(e^{\frac{-\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{8\pi^{2}}} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} \left[L_{2i-1} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{8\pi^{2}} \right) L_{2j-1} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} \right) \right], \\ \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{USp}(2N)} &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\omega g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-4}}{4\sinh^{2} \omega} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2-2}}^{2-2} \left(e^{\frac{-\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{8\pi^{2}}} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} \left[L_{2i-1} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{8\pi^{2}} \right) L_{2j-1} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{2\pi^{2}} \right) \right], \\ \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{USp}(2N)} &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\omega g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{-4}}{4\sinh^{2} \omega} \partial_{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2-2}} \left[L_{2j-1}^{2(i-j)} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{8\pi^{2}} \right) L_{2j-1}^{2(i-j)} \left(\frac{\omega^{2} g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{8\pi^{2}} \right) \right], \\ (3.8)$$

where $L_i^j(z)$ are generalized Laguerre polynomials, and the SU(N) case was already computed in [15]. For SO(2N + 1), the result holds for N > 1, while for SO(3) we must rescale the quantity in parentheses by $g_{\rm YM} \rightarrow \sqrt{2}g_{\rm YM}$, where the difference comes from the discontinuity of the standard Killing form (a, a), i.e. of the Dynkin index, for SO(N) with N = 3 and N > 3. One can check that these formulae satisfy the Lie algebra isomorphisms SU(2) \cong SO(3) \cong USp(2), SU(4) \cong SO(6), SU(2) \times SU(2) \cong SO(4), and SO(5) \cong USp(4).

3.2 1/N expansions

We can now take the large N limit of these finite N results. From the SU(N) case considered in [15], which was computed to all orders in 1/N using topological recursion for U(N) Gaussian matrix models [68, 69], we expect that the finite λ answer should be written in terms of Bessel functions. Since the topological recursion relations have not yet been derived for the other gauge groups, we will instead directly expand the finite N and λ result in (3.8). We do this by first considering the weak coupling expansion, where we define the weak coupling limit 't Hooft coupling for each gauge group as

$$\lambda_w^{\text{SU}(N)} = N g_{\text{YM}}^2, \qquad \lambda_w^{\text{SO}(2N)} = 2N g_{\text{YM}}^2, \lambda_w^{\text{SO}(2N+1)} = (2N+1) g_{\text{YM}}^2, \qquad \lambda_w^{\text{USp}(2N)} = \frac{1}{2} (2N+1) g_{\text{YM}}^2.$$
(3.9)

We then perform the sums over i, j in (3.8) at each order in λ_w , take the large N expansion, and finally resum λ_w at each order in 1/N. To order $O(N^0)$ we found

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)} = N^2 \int_0^\infty d\omega \,\omega \frac{J_1 \left(\frac{\sqrt{\lambda_w}}{\pi}\omega\right)^2 - J_2 \left(\frac{\sqrt{\lambda_w}}{\pi}\omega\right)^2}{4\sinh^2\omega} + O(N^0)\,,\tag{3.10}$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SO}(2N)} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\sinh^{2}\omega} \left[\frac{N^{2}}{2} \left(\frac{\left(\lambda_{w}\omega^{2} - 4\pi^{2}\right)J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2}}{\lambda_{w}\omega} - \omega J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2} + \frac{4\pi J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}} \right) \right] + \frac{N\omega}{16\pi} \left(2\pi J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2} + \sqrt{\lambda_{w}}w\left(1 - 4J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)\right)J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right) - 2\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}\omega J_{1}\left(\frac{2\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right) \right) \right] + O(N^{0}),$$

$$(3.11)$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SO}(2N+1)} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\sinh^{2}\omega} \left[\frac{N^{2}}{2} \left(\frac{\left(\lambda_{w}\omega^{2} - 4\pi^{2}\right)J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2}}{\lambda_{w}\omega} - \omega J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2} + \frac{4\pi J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}} \right) \right] - \frac{N}{16\pi\lambda_{w}\omega} \left(2\lambda_{w}^{3/2}\omega^{3}J_{1}\left(\frac{2\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right) + 8\pi\lambda_{w}\omega^{2}J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2} - \lambda_{w}^{\frac{3}{2}}\omega^{3}J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right) \right] + 4\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}\omega \left(\lambda_{w}\omega^{2} - 8\pi^{2}\right)J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right) + 2\left(16\pi^{3} - 5\pi\lambda_{w}\omega^{2}\right)J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2} \right] + O(N^{0}),$$

$$(3.12)$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{USp}(2N)} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\sinh^{2}\omega} \left[\frac{N^{2}}{2} \left(\frac{\left(\lambda_{w}\omega^{2} - 4\pi^{2}\right)J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2}}{\lambda_{w}\omega} - \omega J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2} + \frac{4\pi J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}} \right) \right] - \frac{N}{16\pi\lambda_{w}\omega} \left(\lambda_{w}^{3/2}\omega^{3}J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right) + 2\lambda_{w}^{3/2}\omega^{3}J_{1}\left(\frac{2\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right) + 8\pi\lambda_{w}\omega^{2}J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2} - 4\lambda_{w}^{\frac{3}{2}}\omega^{3}J_{1}\left(\frac{2\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right) + 4\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}\omega\left(\lambda_{w}\omega^{2} - 8\pi^{2}\right)J_{0}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right) + 2\left(16\pi^{3} - 5\pi\lambda_{w}\omega^{2}\right)J_{1}\left(\frac{\omega\sqrt{\lambda_{w}}}{\pi}\right)^{2} \right] + O(N^{0}),$$

$$(3.13)$$

where λ_w is defined in each case in (3.9). Note that the SU(N) case only includes even powers of N and pairs of Bessel functions, while the other cases include all powers of N and single Bessel functions. This pattern continues at subleading orders in 1/N, which are given in the supplementary material Mathematica notebook. For SU(N), these results match those computed from topological recursion in [15].

The next step is to compute the strong coupling expansion by looking at large 't Hooft coupling. For this we want to use the 't Hooft coupling that is naturally related to the AdS radius, which is the λ defined for each gauge group in (2.12).⁵ To do the large λ expansion, we use the Mellin-Barnes formulae for Bessel functions:

$$J_{\mu}(x)J_{\nu}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c-\infty i}^{c+\infty i} ds \frac{\Gamma(-s)\Gamma(2s+\mu+\nu+1)\left(\frac{1}{2}x\right)^{\mu+\nu+2s}}{\Gamma(s+\mu+1)\Gamma(s+\nu+1)\Gamma(s+\mu+\nu+1)},$$

$$J_{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c-\infty i}^{c+\infty i} ds \frac{\Gamma(-s)\left(\frac{1}{2}x\right)^{\mu+2s}}{\Gamma(s+\mu+1)},$$
(3.14)

perform the ω integrals using

$$\int_0^\infty d\omega \ \frac{\omega^a}{\sinh^2 \omega} = \frac{1}{2^{a-1}} \Gamma(a+1)\zeta(a) \,, \tag{3.15}$$

and finally close the s contours to the left (closing to the right would give the weak coupling expansion). For SU(N) we get

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)} = c \left(\frac{1}{4} - \frac{3\zeta(3)}{\lambda^{3/2}} + \frac{45\zeta(5)}{4\lambda^{5/2}} + O\left(\lambda^{-\frac{7}{2}}\right) \right) + \left(-\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{64} + \frac{1}{16} + O\left(\lambda^{-\frac{3}{2}}\right) \right) + \frac{1}{c} \left(\frac{\lambda^{\frac{3}{2}}}{24576} + O\left(\lambda^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \right) + O(c^{-2}) , \qquad (3.16)$$

where we wrote N in terms of c using (2.11), which is where the difference between U(N)and SU(N) finally enters, and these results recover those in [15]. For SO(2N), SO(2N+1)and USp(2N), after using the different definitions of c in (2.11) and λ in (2.12) for each

⁵For SU(N), the strong and weak coupling definitions coincide, but for the other cases they differ.

case, we find essentially the same answer

$$\mathcal{F}_{\rm orb} = c \left(\frac{1}{4} - \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2\sqrt{2}\lambda^{3/2}} + \frac{45\zeta(5)}{16\sqrt{2}\lambda^{5/2}} + O\left(\lambda^{-\frac{7}{2}}\right) \right) + \left(-\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{64\sqrt{2}} + \frac{1}{128} + O\left(\lambda^{-\frac{3}{2}}\right) \right) + \frac{1}{c} \left(\frac{\lambda^{\frac{3}{2}}}{24576\sqrt{2}} + O\left(\lambda^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \right) + O(c^{-2}),$$
(3.17)

which involved nontrivial cancellations so that other powers of c and λ would not appear. For all gauge groups we only find half integer powers of λ , unlike $\partial_m^4 F|_{m=0}$ as computed for SU(N) in [45], which included both integer and half integer powers of λ .

Finally, we consider the large c and finite τ limit. We can compute the terms which are perturbative in $g_{\rm YM}$ from the 't Hooft limit by simply expressing λ in terms of c and $g_{\rm YM}$ using the different definitions for each gauge group, and then reexpanding at large c. By expanding (3.16) and (3.17) to several more orders in this manner using the expressions in the supplementary material Mathematica notebook, we found that they are nontrivially consistent with the Eisenstein series expansions

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)} &= \frac{c}{4} + \frac{1}{16} - c^{\frac{1}{4}} \frac{3E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)}{32\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}} + \frac{1}{c^{\frac{1}{4}}} \frac{45E\left(\frac{5}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)}{1024\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{5}{2}}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{c^{\frac{3}{4}}} \left[\frac{4725E\left(\frac{7}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)}{262144\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{7}{2}}} - \frac{423E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)}{65536\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right] + \frac{1}{c^{\frac{5}{4}}} \left[\frac{99225E\left(\frac{9}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)}{4194304\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{9}{2}}} - \frac{4005E\left(\frac{5}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)}{1048576\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{5}{2}}} \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{c^{\frac{7}{4}}} \left[\frac{245581875E\left(\frac{11}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)}{4294967296\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{11}{2}}} - \frac{6440175E\left(\frac{7}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)}{1073741824\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{7}{2}}} + \frac{93303E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)}{134217728\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right] + O\left(c^{-\frac{9}{4}}\right) , \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.18)$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\rm orb} &= \frac{c}{4} + \frac{1}{128} - c^{\frac{1}{4}} \frac{3E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{64 \cdot 2^{\frac{1}{4}} \pi^{\frac{3}{2}}} + \frac{1}{c^{\frac{1}{4}}} \frac{45E\left(\frac{5}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{2048 \cdot 2^{\frac{3}{4}} \pi^{\frac{5}{2}}} \end{aligned} \tag{3.19} \\ &+ \frac{1}{c^{\frac{3}{4}}} \left[\frac{4725E\left(\frac{7}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{1048576 \cdot 2^{\frac{1}{4}} \pi^{\frac{7}{2}}} - \frac{207E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{262144 \cdot 2^{\frac{1}{4}} \pi^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right] + \frac{1}{c^{\frac{5}{4}}} \left[\frac{99225E\left(\frac{9}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{16777216 \cdot 2^{\frac{3}{4}} \pi^{\frac{9}{2}}} - \frac{4545E\left(\frac{5}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{4194304 \cdot 2^{\frac{3}{4}} \pi^{\frac{5}{2}}} \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{c^{\frac{7}{4}}} \left[\frac{245581875E\left(\frac{11}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{34359738368 \cdot 2^{\frac{1}{4}} \pi^{\frac{11}{2}}} - \frac{11656575E\left(\frac{7}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{858934592 \cdot 2^{\frac{1}{4}} \pi^{\frac{7}{2}}} + \frac{55503E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{1073741824 \cdot 2^{\frac{1}{4}} \pi^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right] + O\left(c^{-\frac{9}{4}}\right), \end{aligned}$$

where we used the perturbative terms in the Eisenstein expansion (2.21), and recall that $\tau_s = \tau$ for all gauge groups except USp(2N) where $\tau_s = 2\tau$. Note that there are only two perturbative terms in the Eisenstein series expansion, which corresponds to the fact that there is a finite number of perturbative terms at each order in 1/c. For SU(N), this recovers the result that was rigorously derived in [21, 22].

3.3 Constraining the stress-tensor correlator

We can now input the localization results for $\partial_m^2 \partial_\tau \partial_{\bar{\tau}} F|_{m=0}$ into the integrated constraint (3.1) to constrain the stress tensor correlator as expanded at large N in (2.14) and (2.17). For the degree n polynomial Mellin amplitudes M^n in (2.16) as well as the tree level supergravity amplitude M^R in (2.15), we can compute the integrals in (3.2) using Barnes' lemma

$$\int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \Gamma(a+s)\Gamma(b+s)\Gamma(c-s)\Gamma(d-s) = \frac{\Gamma(a+c)\Gamma(b+d)\Gamma(b+c)\Gamma(b+d)}{\Gamma(a+b+c+d)}, \quad (3.20)$$

to get [17, 45]

$$I_2[M^R] = \frac{1}{32}, \qquad I_2[M^0] = -\frac{1}{40}, \qquad I_2[M^2] = -\frac{2}{35}, \qquad I_2[M^3] = -\frac{4}{35}.$$
 (3.21)

The localization constraint (3.1) then fixes the R^4 coefficients to the values in (2.24) and (2.25) that were independently fixed from the flat space limit, which is a check of AdS/CFT at genus-1 for general gauge group, generalizing the SU(N) case first shown in [17]. We can then combine this localization constraint with the flat space limit constraint to rigorously fix the D^4R^4 coefficients in the 't Hooft limit to be

$$B_2^{D^4R^4} = -\frac{1}{3}B_0^{D^4R^4} = \frac{630\zeta(5)}{\mathfrak{o}^{\frac{5}{2}}}, \qquad \bar{B}_2^{D^4R^4} = -\frac{1}{3}\bar{B}_0^{D^4R^4} = -\frac{7}{3072\mathfrak{o}^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
 (3.22)

We can also use the conjectured localization expressions in (3.18) and (3.19) for the large c and finite τ limit to get

$$\tilde{B}_{2}^{D^{4}R^{4}}(\tau_{s},\bar{\tau}_{s}) = -\frac{1}{3}\tilde{B}_{0}^{D^{4}R^{4}}(\tau_{s},\bar{\tau}_{s}) = \frac{315}{128\sqrt{2\pi^{5}\mathfrak{o}^{\frac{5}{4}}}}E\left(\frac{5}{2},\tau_{s},\bar{\tau}_{s}\right).$$
(3.23)

For both the R^4 and $D^4 R^4$ cases, we observe that the finite τ localization results for $\mathrm{SU}(N)$ (3.18) and the orbifold cases (3.19) differ by a factor of $2^{\frac{l}{8}}$, where l is the ℓ_s scaling of the corresponding term in the type IIB S-matrix (2.19). This is the same factor that appeared in the constraint from the flat space limit formula (2.23), which arises from the different AdS/CFT dictionary (2.22) for each case, and is ultimately explained by the orbifold factor in the bulk duals. This suggests that for all tree level terms,⁶ the difference between the orbifold and non-orbifold cases will simply be this orbifold factor, as was similarly observed for M-theory duals in [30, 31]. For $\mathrm{SU}(N)$, the $D^6 R^4$ coefficients in (2.24) and (2.25) were fixed in [22, 45] using the localization constraint from $\partial_m^4 F|_{m=0}$ combined with the $\partial_m^2 \partial_\tau \partial_{\bar{\tau}} F|_{m=0}$ constraint and the flat space limit. We can then divide by $2^{\frac{l}{8}}$ for l = 12 to conjecturally obtain the orbifold results from the known $\mathrm{SU}(N)$ results as

$$\tilde{B}_{3}^{D^{6}R^{4}}(\tau_{s},\bar{\tau}_{s}) = -4\tilde{B}_{2}^{D^{6}R^{4}}(\tau_{s},\bar{\tau}_{s}) = -\frac{1}{4}\tilde{B}_{0}^{D^{6}R^{4}}(\tau_{s},\bar{\tau}_{s}) = \frac{945\mathcal{E}\left(3,\frac{3}{2},\frac{3}{2},\tau_{s},\bar{\tau}_{s}\right)}{64\pi^{3}\mathfrak{o}^{\frac{3}{2}}}.$$
(3.24)

⁶Since c is the only expansion parameter at finite τ , from the bulk perspective there is in general no difference between tree and loop level. At low orders, however, one can distinguish between tree and loop terms by the different power of c that multiply them.

The 't Hooft limit coefficients in (2.24) can then be extracted from the perturbative part of the modular function as given in [22, 45] to get

$$B_{3}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = -4B_{2}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = -\frac{1}{4}B_{0}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = \frac{5040\zeta(3)^{2}}{\mathfrak{o}^{3}},$$

$$\bar{B}_{3}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = -4\bar{B}_{2}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{B}_{0}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = \frac{105\zeta(3)}{4\mathfrak{o}^{2}},$$

$$\bar{B}_{3}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = -4\bar{B}_{2}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{B}_{0}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = \frac{21}{256\mathfrak{o}},$$

$$\bar{B}_{3}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = -4\bar{B}_{2}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{B}_{0}^{D^{6}R^{4}} = \frac{1}{221184}.$$

(3.25)

We will explore more constraints from localization and the flat space limit in the next section, where we consider 1-loop terms.

4 Stress-tensor correlator at 1-loop

We will now compute the 1-loop terms with R and R^4 vertices in the large c expansion for the SU(N) and other gauge groups, dual to $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and $AdS_5 \times S^5/\mathbb{Z}_2$, respectively. Since the results for the 't Hooft expansion can be trivially obtained from the finite τ expansion, as discussed in previous sections, we will only show the finite τ expansion in this section. In particular the $R|R, R|R^4$, and $R^4|R^4$ terms appear at orders $c^{-2}, c^{-\frac{11}{4}}$, and $c^{-\frac{7}{2}}$. respectively. We obtain the 1-loop terms by first computing the 1-loop double-discontinuity (DD) from tree and GFFT data, and then using it to write the entire correlator in Mellin space using crossing symmetry up to contact term ambiguities. We then compare the correlators for both theories to the relevant 1-loop corrections to the 10d S-matrix in the flat space limit, and find a precise match for 1-loop amplitudes on both $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and $AdS_5 \times S^5/\mathbb{Z}_2$. For R|R, we use the localization constraints from the previous section to fix the unique contact term ambiguity for each theory, and find that they are simply related by the orbifold factor. Finally, we extract low-lying CFT data using two methods: the Lorentzian inversion integral applied to the DD that does not apply to certain low values of spin [70, 71], and a projection method applied to the entire Mellin amplitude [1, 72]. Each method agrees in general, while only the projection method can be used to extract the low spin data that is affected by the contact term ambiguities, which in some cases we fixed using localization.

4.1 One-loop from tree level

Since the short multiplets are all 1/c exact, only long multiplets will appear at 1-loop. These long multiplets are double trace operators that can be written as $S_p \partial_{\mu_1} \dots \partial_{\mu_\ell} (\partial^2)^n S_p$, where S_p is the $\Delta = p$ bottom component of the single trace half-BPS multiplet dual to the *p*th lowest KK mode, so that the stress tensor is S_2 . The long multiplets thus have spin ℓ and twist $t \equiv \Delta - \ell = 2p + 2n$ for integer *n* so for $t \geq 2$ there are t/2 such degenerate operators due to the different ways of adding *p* and *n* to get the same twist, which we label using the degeneracy label I. We can expand the CFT data of these long operators as

$$\Delta_{t,\ell,I} = t + \ell + c^{-1} \gamma_{t,\ell,I}^R + c^{-\frac{7}{4}} \gamma_{t,\ell,I}^{R^4} + c^{-2} \gamma_{t,\ell,I}^{R|R} + \dots,$$

$$(\lambda_{p,t,\ell,I})^2 = (\lambda_{p,t,\ell,I}^{(0)})^2 + c^{-1} (\lambda_{p,t,\ell,I}^R)^2 + c^{-\frac{7}{4}} (\lambda_{p,t,\ell,I}^{R^4})^2 + c^{-2} (\lambda_{p,t,\ell,I}^{R|R})^2 + \dots,$$

$$(4.1)$$

where $\lambda_{p,t,\ell,I}$ is the OPE coefficient in $S_p \times S_p$. At GFFT and tree level, the only difference between the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and $AdS_5 \times S^5/\mathbb{Z}_2$ theories is that the orbifold projects out all long multiplets constructed from S_p with odd p, while at loop level the values of the CFT data themselves will differ. We can then apply this large c expansion to the block expansion in (2.9) of the position space correlator $\mathcal{G}(U, V)$ to get R|R at order c^{-2} :

$$\mathcal{G}^{R|R} = \sum_{t=4,6,\dots} \sum_{\ell \in \text{Even}} \left[\frac{1}{8} \langle (\lambda_{t,\ell}^{(0)})^2 (\gamma_{t,\ell}^R)^2 \rangle (\log^2 U + 4 \log U \partial_t^{\text{no-log}} + 4 (\partial_t^{\text{no-log}})^2) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} \langle (\lambda^R)_{t,\ell}^2 \gamma_{t,\ell}^R \rangle (\log U + 2 \partial_t^{\text{no-log}}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} \langle (\lambda_{t,\ell}^{(0)})^2 \gamma_{t,\ell}^{R|R} \rangle (\log U + 2 \partial_t^{\text{no-log}}) + \langle (\lambda_{t,\ell}^{R|R})^2 \rangle \right] U^{-2} G_{t+\ell+4,\ell}(U,V) ,$$
(4.2)

where we suppressed the p = 2 subscripts for simplicity, $\langle \rangle$ denotes the sum over the degeneracy label I in (4.1), and $\partial_t^{\text{no-log}} G_{t+\ell+4,\ell}$ means that after taking the derivative we consider the term that does not include a log U, since the terms with a log have already been written separately. The expression for $\mathcal{G}^{R^4|R^4}$ at order $c^{-\frac{7}{2}}$ is identical except we replace $R \to R^4$ and the sum for the long multiplets is now restricted to $\ell = 0$, since tree R^4 only contributes to $\ell = 0$ CFT data. The expression for $\mathcal{G}^{R|R^4}$ at order $c^{-\frac{11}{4}}$ is similar except we replace the $\frac{1}{8}$ in the first line by $\frac{1}{4}$ since the vertices are different.

As shown in [40], the entire 1-loop term up to the contact term ambiguities described in section 2.2 can in fact be constructed from the $\log^2 U$ terms shown above, which are written in terms of GFFT and tree data, since under $1 \leftrightarrow 3$ crossing

$$V^{2}\mathcal{G}(U,V) - U^{2}\mathcal{G}(V,U) + (U-V)\frac{1}{c} + U^{2} - V^{2} = 0, \qquad (4.3)$$

these are related to $\log^2 V$ terms that are the only contributions at this order to the DD, which can be used to reconstruct the full 1-loop correlator as shown in [70, 71]. A subtlety is that the $I \operatorname{sum} \langle (\lambda_{t,\ell}^{(0)})^2 \gamma_{t,\ell}^A \gamma_{t,\ell}^B \rangle$ for 1-loop vertices A, B is what appears in the $\log^2 U$ term, whereas the different sums $\langle (\lambda_{t,\ell}^{(0)})^2 \gamma_{t,\ell}^A \rangle$ and $\langle (\lambda_{t,\ell}^{(0)})^2 \gamma_{t,\ell}^B \rangle$ are what appear at tree level. As shown in appendix A of [41], one can compute $\langle (\lambda_{t,\ell}^{(0)})^2 \gamma_{t,\ell}^A \gamma_{t,\ell}^B \rangle$ from GFFT $\langle S_p S_p S_q S_q \rangle$ and tree level $\langle S_2 S_2 S_p S_p \rangle$ data as

$$\langle (\lambda_{t,\ell}^{(0)})^2 \gamma_{t,\ell}^A \gamma_{t,\ell}^B \rangle = \sum_{p=2}^{t/2} \frac{\langle \lambda_{2,t,\ell}^{(0)} \lambda_{p,t,\ell}^{(0)} \gamma_{t,\ell}^A \rangle \langle \lambda_{2,t,\ell}^{(0)} \lambda_{p,t,\ell}^{(0)} \gamma_{t,\ell}^B \rangle}{\langle (\lambda_{p,t,\ell}^{(0)})^2 \rangle} , \qquad (4.4)$$

where we summed over each p where a given twist t long multiplet appears. For SU(N), this includes all integer p, while for the orbifold cases it only includes even p. The GFFT

average OPE coefficients were extracted from $\langle S_p S_p S_p S_p \rangle$ in e.g. [73]⁷

$$\langle (\lambda_{p,t,\ell}^{(0)})^2 \rangle \equiv \sum_{I=1}^{t/2} (\lambda_{p,t,\ell,I}^{(0)})^2 = \frac{24(\ell+1)\left(\frac{t}{2}-2\right)!\left(\frac{t}{2}!\right)^2(\ell+t+2)\left(\ell+\frac{t}{2}-1\right)!}{\left(\frac{t}{2}+2\right)!t!p^2(p+1)(p-2)!((p-1)!)^3} \times \frac{\left((\ell+\frac{t}{2}+1)!\right)^2\left(p+\frac{t}{2}\right)!\left(\ell+p+\frac{t}{2}+1\right)!}{\left(\ell+\frac{t}{2}+3\right)!(2\ell+t+2)!\left(\frac{t}{2}-p\right)!\left(\ell-p+\frac{t}{2}+1\right)!},$$

$$(4.5)$$

while the analogous $\langle \lambda_{p,t,\ell}^{(0)} \lambda_{q,t,\ell}^{(0)} \rangle$ vanishes for $p \neq q$ since $\langle S_p S_p S_q S_q \rangle$ is trivial in GFFT. The supergravity average anomalous dimensions were extracted from $\langle S_2 S_2 S_p S_p \rangle$ in [73] to get in our conventions

$$\langle \lambda_{2,t,\ell}^{(0)} \lambda_{p,t,\ell}^{(0)} \gamma_{t,\ell}^R \rangle = \frac{\pi (-1)^{p+1} \Gamma \left(\ell + \frac{t}{2} + 2\right) \left(-p + \frac{t}{2} + 1\right)_p \Gamma \left(p + \frac{t}{2} + 1\right)}{2^{2\ell + 2t + 1} \Gamma (p-1) \Gamma (p) \Gamma \left(\frac{t+1}{2}\right) \Gamma \left(\ell + \frac{t}{2} + \frac{3}{2}\right)}, \qquad (4.6)$$

which is the same for orbifold and non-orbifold. The R^4 expression depends on the theory, and was extracted for the SU(N) theory in the 't Hooft limit in [41]. As discussed in section 2.3, the flat space limit implies that for R^4 the finite τ results can be recovered from the 't Hooft limit by simply promoting $\zeta(3)$ to $E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)$ using (2.21), while the difference between $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and $AdS_5 \times S^5/\mathbb{Z}_2$ theories is only due to the orbifold factor. From the results in [41] we can thus obtain

$$\langle \lambda_{2,t,\ell}^{(0)} \lambda_{p,t,\ell}^{(0)} \gamma_{t,\ell}^{R^4} \rangle = \frac{E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right) (-1)^{p+1} (p)_4 (t-2) t (t+2)^2 \Gamma\left(\frac{t}{2}+4\right) \Gamma\left(p+\frac{t}{2}+2\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{t}{2}+2\right) \delta_{\ell,0}}{\mathfrak{o}^{\frac{3}{4}} \sqrt{2\pi} 2^{2t+12} (p-2)! \Gamma(p+4) \Gamma\left(\frac{t+3}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{t+5}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{t}{2}-p+1\right)}$$

$$(4.7)$$

We can then use this data to perform the p, t, ℓ sums for the $\log^2 U$ term in (4.4) in a small z expansion as

$$\mathcal{G}^{A|B}\Big|_{\log^2 U} = z^2 h^{(2)}_{A|B}(\bar{z}) + z^3 h^{(3)}_{A|B}(\bar{z}) + \cdots .$$
(4.8)

The z-slices take the same form for orbifold and non-orbifold but differ depending on the vertices A, B as

$$h_{R|R}^{(n)}(\bar{z}) = \frac{1}{\bar{z}^{n+2}} \left(p_1^{(n)}(\bar{z}) \operatorname{Li}_2(\bar{z}) + p_2^{(n)}(\bar{z}) \log(1-\bar{z})^2 + p_3^{(n)}(\bar{z}) \log(1-\bar{z}) + p_4^{(n)}(\bar{z}) \right) ,$$

$$h_{A|R^4}^{(n)}(\bar{z}) = \frac{1}{\bar{z}^{n+3}} \left(p_1^{(n+1)}(\bar{z}) \log(1-\bar{z}) + p_2^{(n+1)}(\bar{z}) \right) ,$$
(4.9)

where A can be R or R^4 , and $p_i^{(n)}(\bar{z})$ are certain polynomials of degree n.

4.2 Mellin amplitude

We can now complete the position space DD to the entire correlator using crossing symmetry in Mellin space following [28, 30]. To convert to Mellin space, we recognize that the

⁷We include a factor of $1/p^2$ that was missing from [73].

 $\log^2(z) \log^2(1-\bar{z})$ terms in (4.8) emerge from simultaneous poles in the Mellin amplitude in s and t. Taking residues in (2.13) we see that such poles contribute to the correlator as

$$M = \sum_{m,n=2}^{\infty} \frac{c_{mn}}{(s-2m)(t-2m)} \to \mathcal{T}|_{\log^2(z)\log^2(1-\bar{z})} = \sum_{m,n=2}^{\infty} \frac{c_{mn}\Gamma(m+n)^2}{16\Gamma(m-1)^2\Gamma(n-1)^2} U^m V^{n-2}.$$
(4.10)

We can now solve for the c_{mn} by comparing (4.8) to (4.10) in a double expansion around z = 0 and $\bar{z} = 1$. After crossing symmetrizing we check that the Mellin amplitude reproduces the full $\log^2(z)$ contribution (4.8) which implies that there are no further poles in s and, by crossing symmetry, neither in t or u. We carried out this procedure for each theory and found a similar structure for each case. For $M^{R|R}$ we got

$$M^{R|R}(s,t) = \sum_{m,n=2}^{\infty} \left[\frac{c_{mn}}{(s-2m)(t-2n)} + \frac{c_{mn}}{(t-2m)(u-2n)} + \frac{c_{mn}}{(u-2m)(s-2n)} - b_{mn} \right] + C.$$
(4.11)

For SU(N), the coefficients $c_{mn} = c_{nm}$ were computed in [28] as

$$c_{mn}^{\mathrm{SU}(N)} = \frac{(m-1)^2 m^2}{5(m+n-1)} + \frac{2(m-1)^2 \left(3m^2 - 6m + 8\right)}{5(m+n-2)} - \frac{9m^4 - 54m^3 + 123m^2 - 126m + 44}{5(m+n-3)} - \frac{4\left(m^2 - 4m + 9\right)(m-2)^2}{5(m+n-4)} + \frac{6(m-3)^2(m-2)^2}{5(m+n-5)}.$$
(4.12)

These coefficients diverge in the large $m \sim n$ limit, so in [15] the b_{mn} was chosen to regulate the sum in this limit, while the constant C was then chosen so that the Mellin amplitude matches the position space correlator of [24], which gave

$$b_{mn}^{\mathrm{SU}(N)} = \frac{9mn}{2(m+n)^3}, \qquad C^{\mathrm{SU}(N)} = -\frac{39}{16} - \frac{13}{8}\pi^2 + 9\zeta(3).$$
 (4.13)

As shown in [24], this convention for the 1-loop Mellin amplitude gives CFT data that is analytic in spin including spin zero, while other conventions would change the constant contact term and so would give different results for spin zero. Since we anyway add the contact term ambiguity $\bar{B}_0^{R|R}$ in (2.14), the value of *C* here is a matter of convenience. In appendix **B** we explain how this Mellin amplitude can be summed to give a closed form expression.

For the orbifold cases, we found that the c_{mn} are related to those of SU(N) as

$$c_{mn}^{\text{orb}} = \frac{1}{2} c_{mn}^{\text{SU}(N)} + d_{mn} , \qquad (4.14)$$

where the new term d_{mn} takes the form

$$d_{mn} = \frac{d_{mn,m+n-1}^{(1)}\left(m+n-1\right) + d_{mn,m+n-1}^{(2)}{}_{3}F_{2}\left(1,1-m,1-n;\frac{3}{2},2-m-n;1\right)}{768(m-1)^{2}(2m+1)(n-1)^{2}(2n+1)(m+n-1)},$$
(4.15)

and we define the polynomials

$$\begin{split} d_{p,q}^{(1)} &= -32p^5 \left(q^2 - 5q + 2\right) + 16p^4 \left(23q^3 - 80q^2 - 45q + 14\right) \\ &- 16p^3 \left(91q^4 - 256q^3 - 173q^2 + 34q - 18\right) \\ &+ 8p^2 \left(269q^5 - 801q^4 + 79q^3 + 307q^2 + 18\right) \\ &- 2pq^2 \left(201q^4 - 1731q^3 + 3841q^2 + 1323q + 414\right) \\ &+ q^2 \left(-945q^5 + 1050q^4 + 3842q^3 + 852q^2 + 783q - 270\right) , \\ d_{p,q}^{(2)} &= 64p^6 \left(q^2 - 5q + 2\right) - 128p^5 \left(6q^3 - 21q^2 - 12q + 4\right) \\ &+ 16p^4 \left(205q^4 - 570q^3 - 467q^2 + 40q - 24\right) \\ &- 64p^3q \left(90q^4 - 244q^3 - 81q^2 + 53q + 6\right) \\ &+ 4p^2q \left(739q^5 - 2917q^4 + 2693q^3 + 2361q^2 + 840q - 36\right) \\ &+ 8pq^3 \left(186q^4 + 163q^3 - 1678q^2 - 1251q - 540\right) \\ &+ 3q^3 \left(-315q^5 + 140q^4 + 1500q^3 + 1162q^2 + 495q + 90\right) . \end{split}$$

In order to obtain this result it was useful to recognize that for different fixed values of m, the coefficients can be written as

$$c_{mn}^{\text{orb}} = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \frac{\mu_{m,j}}{m+n-1-j} \,. \tag{4.17}$$

We were then able to determine a general formula for $\mu_{m,j}$. Unlike $c_{mn}^{SU(N)}$, the sum over the d_{mn} is convergent, so we can regularize the orbifold case similar to SU(N) as

$$b_{mn}^{\text{orb}} = \frac{1}{2} b_{mn}^{\text{SU}(N)}, \qquad C^{\text{orb}} = \frac{1}{2} C^{\text{SU}(N)}, \qquad (4.18)$$

where the value of C^{orb} is again a choice, that we will find in the next section also leads to CFT data analytic in spin down to spin zero.

For $M^{R|R^4}(s,t)$ and $M^{R^4|R^4}(s,t)$ we similarly convert the position space DD to Mellin space to find the simpler structure

$$M^{A|R^4}(s,t) = \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \left(\frac{c_m}{(s-2m)} + \frac{c_m}{(t-2m)} + \frac{c_m}{(u-2m)} \right) + \text{polynomial}, \quad (4.19)$$

where A will be R or R^4 , and the polynomial (which we omit in the results below) is any crossing symmetric polynomial of degree four for $M^{R|R^4}(s,t)$ and degree seven for $M^{R^4|R^4}(s,t)$, since these are the degrees determined by the powers of c and the flat space limit. The results for SU(N) theories were given in [28] in the 't Hooft limit,⁸ while in the

 $^{^{8}}$ Up to a few typos, that were corrected in [74].

finite τ limit they just differ by an overall factor:

$$c_m^{R|R^4, SU(N)} = -\frac{E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)}{2\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left(63m^4 - 322m^3 + 693m^2 - 722m + 300\right),$$

$$c_m^{R^4|R^4, SU(N)} = -\frac{135E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau, \bar{\tau}\right)^2}{896\pi^3} \left(924m^7 - 11627m^6 + 67137m^5 - 227045m^4 + 480151m^3 - 629468m^2 + 470408m - 153720\right).$$

$$(4.20)$$

For the orbifold case, we found that the coefficients are related to $\mathrm{SU}(N)$ similar to the R|R case as

$$c_m^{R|R^4,orb} = \frac{1}{2^{\frac{3}{4}}2} c_m^{R|R^4,\mathrm{SU}(N)} + d_m^{R|R^4}, \qquad c_m^{R^4|R^4,orb} = \frac{1}{2^{\frac{3}{2}}2} c_m^{R^4|R^4,\mathrm{SU}(N)} + d_m^{R^4|R^4}, \quad (4.21)$$

where the new terms are defined as

$$d_m^{R|R^4} = \frac{E\left(\frac{3}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)}{64\cdot 2^{\frac{1}{4}}\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left(\frac{3^{3}5^{3}\left(-17488m^{3}+10854m^{2}+6031m-1506\right)}{2^{11}\left(m-\frac{15}{2}\right)_{9}} - \frac{15}{4}(3m-2)\right),$$

$$d_m^{R^4|R^4} = \frac{E\left(\frac{3}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)^{2}}{\sqrt{2}\pi^{3}} \frac{3^{6}5^{4}}{2^{22}\left(m-\frac{21}{2}\right)_{13}} \left(1062890m^{7}-1606305m^{6}-1152985m^{5}+3799305m^{4}-2802325m^{3}+186276\right),$$

$$(4.22)$$

and note the orbifold factor $2^{\frac{3}{4}}$ due to the R^4 vertex.

The sum over m in (4.19) for these coefficients is divergent, but can be regulated and resummed as described in [28] to get for SU(N)

$$M_{\rm SU(N)}^{R|R^4} = -\frac{E\left(\frac{3}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)}{64\sqrt{2}\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left(63s^4 - 644s^3 + 2772s^2 - 5776s + 4800\right)\psi\left(2 - \frac{s}{2}\right) + \text{crossed},$$

$$M_{\rm SU(N)}^{R^4|R^4} = -\frac{135E\left(\frac{3}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)^2}{2^{14}\cdot7\pi^3} \left(462s^7 - 11627s^6 + 134274s^5 - 908180s^4 + 3841208s^3 - 10071488s^2 + 15053056s - 9838080\right)\psi\left(2 - \frac{s}{2}\right) + \text{crossed},$$

$$(4.23)$$

and for the orbifold case

$$\begin{split} M_{\rm orb}^{R|R^4} = & \frac{1}{2^{\frac{3}{4}}2} M_{\rm SU(N)}^{R|R^4} + \frac{E\left(\frac{3}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)}{64 \cdot 2^{\frac{1}{4}}\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left(\frac{15}{16}(4-3s)\psi\left(2-\frac{s}{2}\right) \right. \\ & \left. + \frac{3^2 5^2}{2^{17}} \left(\frac{9n_{-1}(s)}{s+1} - \frac{388n_1(s)}{s-1} - \frac{18040n_3(s)}{s-3} + \frac{255788n_5(s)}{s-5} - \frac{995390n_7(s)}{s-7} + \frac{1797556n_9(s)}{s-9} \right) \right. \\ & \left. - \frac{1699712n_{11}(s)}{s-11} + \frac{820260n_{13}(s)}{s-13} - \frac{160083n_{15}(s)}{s-15}\right) \right) + \text{crossed} \,, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} M_{\rm orb}^{R^4|R^4} &= \frac{1}{2^{\frac{3}{2}}2} M_{\rm SU(N)}^{R^4|R^4} + \frac{E\left(\frac{3}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)^2}{4096\sqrt{2}\pi^3} \frac{3^55^2}{2^{25}} \left(-\frac{3n_{-3}(s)}{s+3} + \frac{80n_{-1}(s)}{s+1} + \frac{4790n_1(s)}{s-1} \right. \\ &\left. -\frac{2492440n_3(s)}{s-3} + \frac{638579095n_5(s)}{s-5} - \frac{15176687744n_7(s)}{s-7} + \frac{121176047620n_9(s)}{s-9} \right. \\ &\left. -\frac{465561453840n_{11}(s)}{s-11} + \frac{996963105915n_{13}(s)}{s-13} - \frac{1260126418320n_{15}(s)}{s-15} \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{937494179622n_{17}(s)}{s-17} - \frac{380559979800n_{19}(s)}{s-19} + \frac{65155115025n_{21}(s)}{s-21} \right) + \text{crossed} \,, \end{split}$$

where the functions

$$n_k(s) \equiv \psi \left(2 - \frac{s}{2}\right) - \psi \left(2 - \frac{k}{2}\right) , \qquad (4.25)$$

have a zero at s = k which cancels all the apparent poles at odd integers.

4.3 Flat space limit

We will now compare the 1-loop Mellin amplitudes to the corresponding string theory amplitudes in 10d using the flat-space limit formula (2.23). To apply this formula to the 1-loop amplitudes, we should look at the regime where m, n, s, t, u all scale equally large. One can check that the terms d_{mn} and d_m in (4.14) and (4.21) are subleading in this limit. Hence the leading terms of each 1-loop Mellin amplitude in (4.14) and (4.21) differ for SU(N) and the orbifold theories by the same powers of 2 that appear in the respective AdS/CFT dictionaries (2.22) and it is only necessary to check SU(N). The R|R term was already checked in [28], so it suffices to check $R|R^4$ and $R^4|R^4$. From (4.23) we find that

$$f_{\mathrm{SU}(N)}^{R|R^4}(s,t) = -\frac{\pi^2 E\left(\frac{3}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)}{2^{12}45} g_s^{\frac{7}{2}} \ell_s^{14} s^4 \log(s) + \operatorname{crossed},$$

$$f_{\mathrm{SU}(N)}^{R^4|R^4}(s,t) = -\frac{\pi^2 E\left(\frac{3}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)^2}{2^{20}105} g_s^5 \ell_s^{20} s^7 \log(s) + \operatorname{crossed}.$$
(4.26)

We can compare this to the discontinuity of the respective 10d amplitude, as computed from the unitarity cut formula $[75]^9$

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{s} f^{A|B}(s,t) = (\delta_{A,B} - 2) stu \frac{\pi^{2} i g_{s}^{2} l_{s}^{8} s^{7}}{15 \, 2^{9}} \int_{0}^{\pi} d\theta \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\phi \sin^{7} \theta |\sin^{6} \phi| \frac{f^{A}(s,t')}{st' u'} \frac{f^{B}(s,t'')}{st'' u''},$$
(4.27)

with

$$t' = -\frac{s}{2}(1 - \cos\theta), \ t'' = -\frac{s}{2}(1 + \cos\theta\cos\rho + \sin\theta\cos\phi\sin\rho), \ u' = -s - t', \ u'' = -s - t'',$$
(4.28)

and $\cos \rho = \frac{t-u}{s}$. Using the vertices in (2.20), we find a precise match with (4.26).

⁹We fix various typos in [75] and [41], by comparing our formula to the 10d box diagram in e.g. [25].

4.4 Fixing 1-loop contact term from localization

We can also use the explicit R|R Mellin amplitudes and the localization constraint in (3.1) to fix the contact term ambiguity $\bar{B}_0^{R|R}$. In [15], this was done for the SU(N) case by numerically computing the integral of the explicit position space amplitude in [24]. Here, we will fix both SU(N) and the orbifold theories by computing the Mellin space integral in (3.2) analytically. The calculation is described in appendix C, and the result is

$$I_2[M_{\mathrm{SU}(N)}^{R|R}] = \frac{5}{32}, \qquad I_2[M_{\mathrm{orb}}^{R|R}] = \frac{1}{128}.$$
 (4.29)

We can then input the localization inputs (3.16) and (3.17) to the constraint (3.1) to fix $\bar{B}_0^{R|R}$ to

$$\bar{B}_{0,\mathrm{SU}(N)}^{R|R} = \frac{15}{4}, \qquad \bar{B}_{0,\mathrm{orb}}^{R|R} = \frac{15}{8}.$$
 (4.30)

Curiously, these terms differ by the same factor of two as the leading s, t term in $M^{R|R}$ that contributes to the flat space limit, even though these contact terms are subleading in the AdS radius and so do not contribute to the flat space limit.

4.5 Extracting CFT data

Lastly, we can extract all low-lying CFT data from the R|R, i.e. c^{-2} , correlator using two methods. Firstly, in appendix D we derive an inversion integral formula for each DD in position space following [25], which allows us to efficiently extract all CFT data above spin $\ell = 0$, as expected from the Lorentzian inversion formula [71]. Secondly, we use the projection method of [72] to expand each correlator as written in Mellin space in conformal blocks and extract the CFT data for all spins including $\ell = 0$, using that the contact term ambiguity $\bar{B}_0^{R|R}$ was fixed in the previous section. Not only does each method agree for $\ell > 0$, but we even find that the analytic continuation of the inversion method to spin zero matches the contribution from $M^{R|R}$, i.e. neglecting $\bar{B}_0^{R|R}$, for both SU(N) and the orbifold theories. We can also use the projection method to compute the contribution from the tree level terms that we fixed in section 3.3. We do not extract CFT data from the $R|R^4$ or $R^4|R^4$ correlators, since for low spins these terms are affected by contact terms for which we have insufficient localization constraints to fix them.

Combining these various contributions, for the lowest dimension operators for each spin ℓ that appear in the large c and finite τ limit (which are all double trace operators),¹⁰ we find for the lowest few ℓ :

$$\begin{split} &\Delta_{0,\mathrm{SU}(N)}^{R|R} \!=\! 4 - \frac{4}{c} - \frac{135E\left(\frac{3}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)}{7\sqrt{2}\pi^{3/2}c^{\frac{7}{4}}} + \frac{1199}{42c^2} - \frac{3825E\left(\frac{5}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)}{32\sqrt{2}\pi^{5/2}c^{\frac{9}{4}}} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right), \\ &\Delta_{2,\mathrm{SU}(N)}^{R|R} \!=\! 6 - \frac{1}{c} - \frac{41}{16c^2} - \frac{1575E\left(\frac{5}{2},\tau,\bar{\tau}\right)}{22\sqrt{2}\pi^{5/2}c^{\frac{9}{4}}} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right), \\ &\Delta_{4,\mathrm{SU}(N)}^{R|R} \!=\! 8 - \frac{12}{25c} - \frac{423}{3125c^2} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right), \end{split}$$

¹⁰These are the operators introduced in section 4.1 with p = 2, n = 0.

.31)

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{0,orb}^{R|R} = & 4 - \frac{4}{c} - \frac{135E\left(\frac{3}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{14\sqrt[4]{2}\pi^{3/2}c^{\frac{7}{4}}} + \frac{1}{c^2} \left(\frac{29129625\zeta(3) + 22143194}{7680} - \frac{135}{14} - 10688\log(2)\right) \\ & - \frac{3825E\left(\frac{5}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{64\ 2^{3/4}\pi^{5/2}c^{\frac{9}{4}}} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right), \\ \Delta_{2,orb}^{R|R} = & 6 - \frac{1}{c} + \frac{1}{c^2} \left(\frac{469744545375\zeta(3) + 353499406166}{1720320} - 769988\log(2)\right) \\ & - \frac{1575E\left(\frac{5}{2}, \tau_s, \bar{\tau}_s\right)}{44\ 2^{3/4}\pi^{5/2}c^{\frac{9}{4}}} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right), \\ \Delta_{4,orb}^{R|R} = & 8 - \frac{12}{25c} - \frac{9}{c^2} \left(-\frac{217777351113\zeta(3)}{409600} - \frac{71700177905311}{179200000} + \frac{937053696\log(2)}{625}\right) + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right). \end{split}$$

$$(4.31)$$

One could similarly extract the OPE coefficients for these lowest twist operators, but those are harder to bound using the numerical bootstrap,¹¹ so we leave it for future work. For higher twist operators, due to the degeneracy discussed above, one would need to look at more correlators to perform their unmixing at 1-loop order.

$\mathbf{5}$ Comparison to numerical bootstrap

We conclude by comparing our large c results to finite c numerical bootstrap bounds. In [42, 43], bounds were computed on CFT data that appears in the stress tensor correlator as a function of c. We restrict the discussion in this section to the SU(N) or SO(2N) groups, since at large c and finite τ all the other orbifold gauge theories can be easily related to SO(2N). Since the value of τ could not be specified [42, 43], it was conjectured that the bounds might be saturated by either the SU(N) or SO(2N) theories at one of the self-dual points under S-duality, which are either $\tau = i$ with \mathbb{Z}_2 enhancement or $\tau = e^{i\pi/3}$ with \mathbb{Z}_3 enhancement. We can compute the anomalous dimensions (4.31) at the self-dual points using the formulae [76]:

$$E\left(s, e^{\frac{i\pi}{3}}\right) = 2^{1-s} 3^{1-\frac{s}{2}} \zeta(s) \left(\zeta\left(s, \frac{1}{3}\right) - \zeta\left(s, \frac{2}{3}\right)\right),$$

$$E(s, i) = 4^{1-s} \zeta(s) \left(\zeta\left(s, \frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta\left(s, \frac{3}{4}\right)\right),$$
(5.1)

which shows that $\tau = e^{i\pi/3}$ has the largest value, which numerically is

$$\begin{split} \tau &= e^{i\pi/3}: \qquad \Delta_{0,\mathrm{SU}(N)}^{R|R} = 4 - \frac{4}{c} - \frac{21.7787}{c^{\frac{7}{4}}} + \frac{28.5476}{c^2} - \frac{22.8027}{c^{\frac{9}{4}}} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right) \,, \\ \Delta_{2,\mathrm{SU}(N)}^{R|R} &= 6 - \frac{1}{c} - \frac{2.5625}{c^2} - \frac{13.6573}{c^{\frac{9}{4}}} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right) \,, \\ \Delta_{4,\mathrm{SU}(N)}^{R|R} &= 8 - \frac{0.48}{c} - \frac{0.13536}{c^2} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right) \,, \end{split}$$

¹¹This is because in order to bound OPE coefficients of unprotected operators, one must first know their scaling dimensions, for which there is extra uncertainty from their own bounds.

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{0,\mathrm{SO}(2N)}^{R|R} &= 4 - \frac{4}{c} - \frac{12.9497}{c^{\frac{7}{4}}} + \frac{24.534}{c^2} - \frac{9.58737}{c^{\frac{9}{4}}} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right) \,, \\ \Delta_{2,\mathrm{SO}(2N)}^{R|R} &= 6 - \frac{1}{c} - \frac{0.888511}{c^2} - \frac{5.74217}{c^{\frac{9}{4}}} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right) \,, \\ \Delta_{4,\mathrm{SO}(2N)}^{R|R} &= 8 - \frac{0.48}{c} - \frac{0.00174726}{c^2} + O\left(c^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right) \,. \end{split}$$
(5.2)

The SO(2N) value is also larger than the SU(N) value for large c, so if any theory saturates the single correlator bounds of [42, 43], it should be the SO(2N) theory at $\tau = e^{i\pi/3}$. A numerical bootstrap study was also done in [44] using mixed correlators between the stress tensor multiplet and the next lowest half-BPS multiplet with $\Delta = 3$. Since this multiplet is absent for SO(2N), only the SU(N) theory could appear in these bounds. In figure 1 we show a comparison between the single and mixed correlator bounds which we recomputed at very high bootstrap precision for low spins, and the analytic estimates at large c.¹² For completeness we give a full description of our mixed correlator bootstrap setup (independent of [44]) in appendix E. None of the analytic estimates for Δ_0 and Δ_2 are close to saturating the bounds,¹³ and the single correlator and mixed correlator bounds are in fact almost indistinguishable in this regime, which suggests that no physical theory is saturating these bounds.

Acknowledgments

We thank Ofer Aharony, Silvu Pufu, Yifan Wang, and Congkao Wen for useful conversations. The work of LFA and TH is supported by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No. 787185). LFA is also supported in part by the STFC grant ST/T000864/1. SMC is supported by the Zuckerman STEM Leadership Fellowship. The authors would like to acknowledge the use of the University of Oxford Advanced Research Computing (ARC) facility in carrying out this work (https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.22558).

 $^{^{12}\}mathrm{We}$ include the explicit data points in the supplementary material <code>Mathematica</code> notebook.

 $^{^{13}\}mathrm{Truncating}$ the analytic expansion to a smaller order in large c also does not help.



Figure 1. Upper bounds (black) on the lowest dimension scaling dimension for spin 0, 2, 4 in terms of c, computed using $n_{\text{max}} = 62$ for the single correlator setup, or $n_{\text{max}} = 30$ for the mixed correlator setup (the results cannot be distinguished by eye in this regime of large c). The red, purple lines corresponds to the SU(N), SO(2N) analytic estimates, respectively, at large c and at the self dual point $\tau = e^{i\pi/3}$, as given in (5.2).

A Matrix model calculations

In this appendix we give details of the matrix model computation in section 3.1. As discussed in [15], the mass derivatives that we consider in (3.1) are identical for SU(N) and U(N), so for simplicity we will consider the latter gauge group. For the various gauge groups we consider, we will use the standard basis of roots given in appendix A of [67] to write (3.3) explicitly as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{U}(N): \quad & Z(m) = \int \frac{d^{N}a}{N!} \frac{e^{-\frac{8\pi^{2}}{g_{YM}^{2}} \sum_{i}a_{i}^{2}}}{H(m)^{N}} \prod_{i < j} \frac{a_{ij}^{2}H^{2}(a_{ij})}{H(a_{ij} - m)H(a_{ij} + m)}, \\ & \mathrm{SO}(2N): \quad Z(m) = \int \frac{d^{N}a}{2^{N}N!} \frac{e^{-\frac{8\pi^{2}}{g_{YM}^{2}} \sum_{i}a_{i}^{2}}}{H(m)^{N}} \prod_{i < j} \frac{a_{ij}^{2}(a_{ij}^{+})^{2}H^{2}(a_{ij})H^{2}(a_{ij}^{+})}{H(a_{ij} - m)H(a_{ij}^{+} - m)H(a_{ij}^{+} + m)}, \\ & \mathrm{SO}(2N+1): \quad Z(m) = \int \frac{d^{N}a}{2^{N}N!} \frac{e^{-\frac{8\pi^{2}}{g_{YM}^{2}} \sum_{i}a_{i}^{2}}}{H(m)^{N}} \prod_{i < j} \frac{a_{ij}^{2}(a_{ij}^{+})^{2}H^{2}(a_{ij})}{H(a_{ij} - m)H(a_{ij}^{+} - m)H(a_{ij}^{+} + m)}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\times \prod_{i < j} \frac{a_{ij}^2 (a_{ij}^+)^2 H^2(a_{ij}) H^2(a_{ij}^+)}{H(a_{ij} - m) H(a_{ij} + m) H(a_{ij}^+ - m) H(a_{ij}^+ + m)},$$

where we define $a_{ij} = a_i - a_j$ and $a_{ij}^+ = a_i + a_j$, and note that the Killing form for USp(2N) in our basis has extra factors of 2 relative to the other cases, while SO(3) has an extra factor of $\frac{1}{2}$. We will compute the small m expansion of Z(m) using the method of orthogonal polynomials.

Let us introduce a family of polynomials $p_n(a)$:

$$p_n(a) \equiv \left(\frac{g_{\rm YM}^2}{32\pi^2}\right)^{\frac{n}{2}} H_n\left(\frac{4\pi a}{\sqrt{2}g_{\rm YM}}\right),\tag{A.2}$$

which are orthogonal with respect to the Gaussian matrix model measure:

$$\int dap_m(a)p_n(a)e^{-\frac{8\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2}a^2} = n! \left(\frac{g_{YM}^2}{16\pi^2}\right)^n \sqrt{\frac{g_{YM}^2}{8\pi}}\delta_{mn} \equiv h_n\delta_{mn}.$$
 (A.3)

These orthogonal polynomials are useful because they diagonalize the Vandermonde determinant for the various Gaussian matrix models we consider:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{U}(N): \quad Z(0) &= \frac{1}{N!} \int d^N a \prod_{i < j} (a_i - a_j)^2 e^{-\frac{8\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2} \sum_i a_i^2} \\ &= \frac{1}{N!} \int d^N a \prod_{i < j} |p_{i-1}(a_j)|^2 e^{-\frac{8\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2} \sum_i a_i^2} \\ &= \prod_{k=0}^{N-1} h_k \,, \\ &= 2^{\frac{1}{2}(1-4N)N} \pi^{\frac{1}{2}(1-2N)N} G(N+1) (g_{YM}^2)^{\frac{N^2}{2}} \,, \end{aligned}$$
(A.4)

and

$$SO(2N): \quad Z(0) = \frac{1}{2^N N!} \int d^N a \prod_{i < j} (a_i^2 - a_j^2)^2 e^{-\frac{8\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2} \sum_i a_i^2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2^N N!} \int d^N a \prod_{i < j} |p_{2(i-1)}(a_j)|^2 e^{-\frac{8\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2} \sum_i a_i^2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2^N} \prod_{k=0}^{N-1} h_{2k},$$

$$= \frac{A^{3/2} 2^{-3N^2 + \frac{N}{2} - \frac{1}{24}} \pi^{-2N^2 + N + \frac{1}{4}} G\left(N + \frac{1}{2}\right) G(N+1) (g_{YM}^2)^{N^2 - \frac{N}{2}}}{\sqrt[8]{e}},$$
(A.5)

and

$$SO(2N+1): \quad Z(0) = \frac{1}{2^N N!} \int d^N a \prod_{i < j} (a_i^2 - a_j^2)^2 \prod_i a_i^2 e^{-\frac{8\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2} \sum_i a_i^2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2^N N!} \int d^N a \prod_{i < j} |p_{2i-1}(a_j)|^2 e^{-\frac{8\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2} \sum_i a_i^2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2^N} \prod_{k=0}^{N-1} h_{2k}, \qquad (A.6)$$
$$= \frac{A^{3/2} 2^{-3N^2 - \frac{5N}{2} - \frac{1}{24}} \pi^{-2N^2 - N - \frac{1}{4}} G(N+1) G\left(N + \frac{3}{2}\right) (g_{YM}^2)^{N^2 + \frac{N}{2}}}{\sqrt[8]{e}},$$

where A is the Glaisher constant, G(z) is the Barnes G function, and for SO(2N + 1)we assume N > 1 so we have the standard Gaussian measure. Here, we replaced the Vandermonde determinant by a determinant of orthogonal polynomials that we can write as

$$\prod_{i< j} |p_{i-1}(a_j)|^2 = \sum_{\sigma_1 \in S_N} (-1)^{|\sigma_1|} \prod_{k_1=1}^N p_{\sigma_1(k_1)-1}(a_{k_1}) \sum_{\sigma_2 \in S_N} (-1)^{|\sigma_2|} \prod_{k_2=1}^N p_{\sigma_2(k_2)-1}(a_{k_2}) , \quad (A.7)$$

and then we computed each integral using (A.3). We can similarly compute USp(2N), except we now set $g_{\rm YM}^2 \to g_{\rm YM}^2/2$ in the polynomials $p_n(a)$ to account for the different Gaussian factor, which gives

$$USp(2N): \quad Z(0) = \frac{1}{2^N N!} \int d^N a \prod_{i < j} (a_i^2 - a_j^2)^2 \prod_i (2a_i)^2 e^{-\frac{16\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2} \sum_i a_i^2}$$
(A.8)
$$= 2^N \frac{A^{3/2} 2^{-3N^2 - \frac{5N}{2} - \frac{1}{24}} \pi^{-2N^2 - N - \frac{1}{4}} G(N+1) G\left(N + \frac{3}{2}\right) (g_{YM}^2/2)^{N^2 + \frac{N}{2}}}{\sqrt[8]{e}}.$$

We can then take the logarithm to get the results in (3.4), where note that $c = N^2/4$ for U(N). For SU(N), we would get $c = (N^2 - 1)/4$ because there is one less eigenvalue, as discussed in [15].

Next, we will discuss how to compute the expectation values in (3.6). Consider an n-body operator $\mathcal{O}_n(a)$ that WLOG only depends on the a_i for $i = 1, \ldots n$. Due to the orthogonality of the polynomials in $\langle \mathcal{O}_n(a) \rangle$ the only permutations σ_1, σ_2 in (A.7) that survive integration are those for which $\sigma_2(m) = \sigma_1(m)$ for m > n. This means that in order to contribute to the full matrix model integral, $\{\sigma_2(1), \ldots, \sigma_2(n)\}$ must be a permutation of $\{\sigma_1(1), \ldots, \sigma_1(n)\}$, which we denote by μ . The expectation value for each gauge group is

$$\mathbf{U}(N): \quad \langle \mathcal{O}_{n}(a) \rangle = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{N} \\ \mu \in S_{n}}} (-1)^{|\mu|} \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} da_{i} \frac{p_{\sigma(i)-1}(a_{i})p_{\mu(\sigma(i))-1}(a_{i})}{h_{\sigma(i)-1}} e^{-\frac{8\pi^{2}}{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}a_{i}^{2}} \right) \mathcal{O}_{n}(a) \,,$$

$$SO(2N): \quad \langle \mathcal{O}_n(a) \rangle = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_N \\ \mu \in S_n}} (-1)^{|\mu|} \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^n da_i \frac{p_{2(\sigma(i)-1)}(a_i) p_{2(\mu(\sigma(i))-1)}(a_i)}{h_{2(\sigma(i)-1)}} e^{-\frac{8\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2} a_i^2} \right) \mathcal{O}_n(a)$$

$$SO(2N+1): \quad \langle \mathcal{O}_{n}(a) \rangle = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{N} \\ \mu \in S_{n}}} (-1)^{|\mu|} \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} da_{i} \frac{p_{2\sigma(i)-1}(a_{i})p_{2\mu(\sigma(i))-1}(a_{i})}{h_{2\sigma(i)-1}} e^{-\frac{8\pi^{2}}{g_{YM}^{2}}a_{i}^{2}} \right) \mathcal{O}_{n}(a),$$
$$USp(2N): \quad \langle \mathcal{O}_{n}(a) \rangle = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (-1)^{|\mu|} \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} da_{i} \frac{p_{2\sigma(i)-1}(a_{i})p_{2\mu(\sigma(i))-1}(a_{i})}{h_{2\sigma(i)-1}} e^{-\frac{16\pi^{2}}{g_{YM}^{2}}a_{i}^{2}} \right) \mathcal{O}_{n}(a),$$

$$\text{USp}(2N): \quad \langle \mathcal{O}_n(a) \rangle = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_N \\ \mu \in S_n}} (-1)^{|\mu|} \int \left(\prod_{i=1} da_i \frac{p_{2\sigma(i)-1}(u_i)p_{2\mu(\sigma(i))-1}(u_i)}{h_{2\sigma(i)-1}} e^{-g_{\text{YM}}^2 u_i} \right) \mathcal{O}_n(a),$$
(A.9)

where note that the originally N-dimensional integral has reduced to an n-dimensional integral, and the $p_n(a)$ in the USp(2N) case are defined with $g_{\rm YM}^2 \rightarrow g_{\rm YM}^2/2$ as usual for this case. We can now use this and the identity

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-x^2 + yx} H_m(x) H_n(x) = e^{\frac{y^2}{4}} 2^m \sqrt{\pi} m! y^{n-m} L_m^{n-m}(-y^2/2), \qquad (A.10)$$

where $L_m^n(z)$ is a generalized Laguerre polynomial, to compute the 2-body operator expectation value $\sum_{i \neq j} \langle \cos(2\omega(a_i - a_j)) \rangle$ in the U(N) case:

$$\frac{N(N-1)}{N!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} \sum_{\mu \in S_2} (-1)^{|\mu|} \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^2 da_i \frac{p_{\sigma(i)-1}(a_i)p_{\mu(\sigma(i))-1}(a_i)}{h_{\sigma(i)-1}} e^{-\frac{8\pi^2}{g_{YM}^2}} a_i^2 \right) \frac{e^{2i\omega(a_1-a_2)} + e^{2i\omega(a_2-a_1)}}{2} \\
= e^{\frac{-\omega^2 g_{YM}^2}{4\pi^2}} \sum_{i,j=1}^N \left[L_{i-1} \left(\frac{\omega^2 g_{YM}^2}{4\pi^2} \right) L_{j-1} \left(\frac{\omega^2 g_{YM}^2}{4\pi^2} \right) - (-1)^{i-j} L_{i-1}^{j-i} \left(\frac{\omega^2 g_{YM}^2}{4\pi^2} \right) L_{j-1}^{i-j} \left(\frac{\omega^2 g_{YM}^2}{4\pi^2} \right) \right]. \tag{A.11}$$

We can then plug this into (3.7) and (3.6) to get the final result for SU(N) in (3.8), which recall is the same as U(N). The other cases can be computed similarly, where $\sum_{i \neq j} \langle \cos(2\omega(a_i - a_j)) \rangle$ and $\sum_{i \neq j} \langle \cos(2\omega(a_i + a_j)) \rangle$ both give the same answer, for SO(2N+1) and USp(2N) we have an extra contribution from the 1-body operator in (3.6), and the USp(2N) case has $g_{\rm YM}^2 \to g_{\rm YM}^2/2$ relative to the SO(2N + 1) case.

B Closed form for R|R Mellin amplitude in SU(N)

In this appendix we compute explicitly the double sum

$$\Phi(s,t) = \sum_{m,n=2}^{\infty} \frac{c_{mn}}{(s-2m)(t-2n)},$$
(B.1)

where the coefficients $c_{mn} = c_{nm}$ are those relevant for SU(N), given in (4.12). The first remark is that this sum needs to be regularized. Different regularisations differ from each other by ambiguities of the form $\alpha + \beta(8 - 3s - 3t)$. Below we will choose a specific regularisation and give α in that case. β will not be needed for our purposes. More precisely, consider the convergent double sum

$$\Phi_{\rm reg}(s,t) = \sum_{m,n=2}^{\infty} \left(\frac{c_{mn}}{(s-2m)(t-2n)} - \delta_{mn} \right) \,, \tag{B.2}$$

where

$$\delta_{mn} = \frac{3mn}{2(m+n)^3} + \frac{3mt - 4m + 3ns - 4n}{4(m+n)^3} \,. \tag{B.3}$$

Note that the subleading/second term in δ_{mn} vanishes in the symmetric combination that enters the Mellin amplitude (4.11)

$$M_{\rm SU(N)}^{R|R}(s,t) = \Phi_{\rm reg}(s,t) + \Phi_{\rm reg}(t,u) + \Phi_{\rm reg}(u,s) + C^{\rm SU(N)}, \qquad (B.4)$$

but it is necessary to regularize a single double sum, very much as what happens with the box function in flat space. In order to compute $\Phi_{\text{reg}}(s,t)$ we will follow the same strategy as in [32]. The answer is expected to have the form

$$\Phi_{\rm reg}(s,t) = R_0(s,t) \left(\psi^{(1)} \left(2 - \frac{s}{2} \right) + \psi^{(1)} \left(2 - \frac{t}{2} \right) - \left(\psi^{(0)} \left(2 - \frac{s}{2} \right) - \psi^{(0)} \left(2 - \frac{t}{2} \right) \right)^2 \right) + R_1(s,t)\psi^{(0)} \left(2 - \frac{s}{2} \right) + R_1(t,s)\psi^{(0)} \left(2 - \frac{t}{2} \right) + R_2(s,t) ,$$
(B.5)

where the rational functions $R_0(s,t)$, $R_1(s,t)$, $R_2(s,t)$ are free of poles at $s, t = 4, 6, \cdots$. $R_0(s,t)$ is fixed by the requirement that the residues at simultaneous poles are reproduced, which simply implies that $R_0(s,t)$ is given by c_{mn} upon setting $m \to s/2$ and $n \to t/2$:

$$R_0(s,t) = \frac{P_0(s,t)}{40(s+t-10)(s+t-8)(s+t-6)(s+t-4)(s+t-2)},$$
 (B.6)

with $P_0(s,t)$ a symmetric polynomial of total degree six

$$P_{0}(s,t) = 15s^{4}t^{2} + 30s^{3}t^{3} - 360s^{3}t^{2} + 15s^{2}t^{4} - 360s^{2}t^{3} + 2304s^{2}t^{2} - 70s^{4}t + 1096s^{3}t - 5048s^{2}t + 88s^{4} - 1024s^{3} + 3552s^{2} - 70st^{4} + 1096st^{3} - 5048st^{2} + 8640st - 4736s + 88t^{4} - 1024t^{3} + 3552t^{2} - 4736t + 2048.$$
(B.7)

Next, let us focus on $R_1(s, t)$. This is fixed by the requirement that at each pole s = 2m, we get the precise *t*-dependence, namely an infinite sum over poles with the correct residues. This implies

$$R_1(s,t) = \frac{P_1(s,t)}{40(s+t-10)(s+t-8)(s+t-4)(s+t-2)},$$
(B.8)

with $P_1(s,t)$ a polynomial of total degree 5.

$$P_{1}(s,t) = -105s^{3}t^{2} - 45s^{2}t^{3} + 1200s^{2}t^{2} - 75s^{4}t + 1350s^{3}t - 7720s^{2}t - 15s^{5} + 400s^{4} - 3532s^{3} + 13008s^{2} + 250st^{3} - 3980st^{2} + 17200st - 21248s - 368t^{3} + 4192t^{2} - 13312t + 12800.$$
(B.9)

Finally, $R_2(s,t)$ can be constrained as follows. Note that because of the form of $R_0(s,t)$ and $R_1(s,t)$, spurious poles are introduced at s + t = 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 and $R_2(s,t)$ must cancel these poles. Its polar structure together with the flat space limit (which constraints the large s, t behaviour) allow to write $R_2(s,t)$ in the following form

$$R_2(s,t) = \frac{P_2(s,t)}{240(s+t-10)(s+t-8)(s+t-6)(s+t-4)(s+t-2)} + \alpha + \beta(8-3s-3t),$$
(B.10)

where $P_2(s,t)$ is a symmetric polynomial of total degree 6. It turns out that $P_2(s,t)$ is completely fixed by requiring cancellation at the spurious poles, up to the ambiguity of the form $\alpha + \beta(8-3s-3t)$ (times the denominator), exactly as expected. For the regularisation above we obtain

$$P_{2}(s,t) = -45s^{4}t^{2} - 630s^{3}t^{2} - 45s^{2}t^{4} - 630s^{2}t^{3} + 19404s^{2}t^{2} - 72s^{5}t + 585s^{4}t + 8640s^{3}t - 125604s^{2}t - 27s^{6} + 477s^{5} - 1062s^{4} - 28908s^{3} + 239688s^{2} - 72st^{5} + 585st^{4} + 8640st^{3} - 125604st^{2} + 520848st - 683424s - 27t^{6} + 477t^{5} - 1062t^{4} - 28908t^{3} + 239688t^{2} - 683424t + 642816 + \pi^{2} \left(45s^{4}t^{2} + 520s^{3}t^{2} + 45s^{2}t^{4} + 520s^{2}t^{3} - 14544s^{2}t^{2} + 54s^{5}t - 400s^{4}t - 7056s^{3}t + 89808s^{2}t + 9s^{6} - 164s^{5} - 648s^{4} + 25984s^{3} - 172656s^{2} + 54st^{5} - 400st^{4} - 7056st^{3} + 89808st^{2} - 354528st + 458560s + 9t^{6} - 164t^{5} - 648t^{4} + 25984t^{3} - 172656t^{2} + 458560t - 419328 \right),$$
(B.11)

and for our specific normalisation $\alpha = -3\zeta(3)$. Note that β will disappear once we consider the combination of all three channels. The Mellin amplitude presented here is also included in the supplementary material Mathematica notebook.

C 1-loop localization integral in Mellin space

In this appendix we will compute the integral (3.2) for the Mellin amplitudes $M_{SU(N)}^{R|R}$ and $M_{orb}^{R|R}$ as described in section 4.2. Our strategy is to first compute it for a general simultaneous pole in s and t

$$I_2\left(\frac{1}{(s-2m)(t-2n)}\right). \tag{C.1}$$

To this end, we first use the integral representation of the Gamma function

$$\Gamma(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, t^{x-1} e^{-t} \,, \tag{C.2}$$

for $\Gamma\left(\frac{u}{2}\right)$ and $\Gamma\left(2-\frac{u}{2}\right)$ in order to factorize the *s* and *t* integrals, and then do these integrals by summing residues

$$I_2\left(\frac{1}{(s-2m)(t-2n)}\right) = -\int_0^\infty dt_1 dt_2 \frac{t_1 \Gamma(m) \Gamma(n) \,_2 F_1\left(2,m;m+1;-\frac{t_1}{t_2}\right) \,_2 F_1\left(2,n;n+1;-\frac{t_1}{t_2}\right)}{8e^{t_1+t_2} t_2 \Gamma(m+1) \Gamma(n+1)} \,. \tag{C.3}$$

By doing the integral for many values of m and n, we found the general formula

$$I_2\left(\frac{1}{(s-2m)(t-2n)}\right) = \frac{1}{4}(m-1)(n-1)(m+n-1)\left(\frac{\pi^2}{12}\left(2H_{m+n-2} - H_{m-2} - H_{n-2}\right) - \zeta(3)\right) - \frac{\pi^2}{96}(m+n)\left(m^2 + mn + n^2 - 2m - 2n + 1\right) + r_{m,n}, \quad (C.4)$$

where H_n is the *n*-th harmonic number and $r_{m,n}$ is symmetric under exchange of *m* and *n* and determined by the recursion relation

$$r_{m,n} = -\frac{(n-1)n}{(n-3)(n-2)}r_{m,n-2} + \frac{2(n-1)(m(n-1)+(n-3)n+1)}{(n-2)^2(m+n-2)}r_{m,n-1}$$
(C.5)

$$+ \frac{m \left(6 m ^2+3 m -2\right) (2 n-3)+4 n-9-6 m (m+1) (m-1) ^2 (2 n-3) \left(\psi ^{(1)} (m-1)-\frac{\pi ^2}{6}\right)}{48 (n-3) (n-2) ^2 (m+n-2)}\,,$$

together with the initial values

$$r_{2,2} = \frac{53}{48}, \qquad r_{2,3} = \frac{101}{32}, \qquad r_{3,3} = \frac{223}{32}.$$
 (C.6)

Next we have to deal with the double sum over m and n. In order to improve the convergence of the sum for the SU(N) case we subtract the first three terms in the large $m \sim n$ expansion of the summand (4.12). These terms are polynomial Mellin amplitudes that can be easily summed and integrated separately. We then cut off the sum of the subtracted terms as follows (using crossing symmetry of the integrand of (3.2))

$$I_{2}[M^{R|R}] \approx \sum_{m=2}^{M} \sum_{n=2}^{m} \left(3(2 - \delta_{mn}) c_{mn}^{\mathrm{SU}(N)} I_{2} \left(\frac{1}{(s - 2m)(t - 2n)} \right) - b_{mn}^{\mathrm{SU}(N)} I_{2}(1) - I_{2}(\mathrm{subtractions}_{mn}) \right) \\ + \sum_{m,n=2}^{\infty} I_{2}(\mathrm{subtractions}_{mn}) + C^{\mathrm{SU}(N)} I_{2}(1) .$$
(C.7)

For the cutoff M = 5000 we find agreement with the result of [15] to 4 digits, as shown in (4.30).

For the orbifold case we can reuse the SU(N) result in (4.30) times 1/2 and only need to add the terms involving d_{mn} . We expect the main contribution to the sum to come from the region where either m or n is small. In order to improve convergence in this region we expand the summand at large n

$$\frac{d_{mn}}{(s-2m)(t-2n)} = \operatorname{sub}_n^{(4)}(d_{mn}) + O(n^{-5}).$$
(C.8)

The subtractions defined in this way have terms of the form

$$\frac{t^k}{s-2m}, \quad k=0,1,2,$$
 (C.9)

for which we compute the integral (3.2):

$$I_{2}\left(\frac{1}{s-2m}\right) = \frac{1}{144}\left(-6m^{3} - 3m^{2} + 2m - 2\right) + \frac{1}{24}(m-1)^{2}m(m+1)\psi^{(1)}(m-1),$$

$$I_{2}\left(\frac{t}{s-2m}\right) = \frac{30m^{5} - 75m^{4} + 20m^{3} + 80m^{2} - 41m + 22}{720(m-2)}$$

$$- \frac{1}{24}(m-2)(m-1)^{2}m(m+1)\psi^{(1)}(m-2),$$

$$I_{2}\left(\frac{t^{2}}{s-2m}\right) = \frac{-90m^{6} + 345m^{5} - 360m^{4} - 160m^{3} + 443m^{2} - 194m + 16}{1800(m-2)}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{60}(m-2)(m-1)^{2}m(m+1)(3m-4)\psi^{(1)}(m-2).$$
(C.10)

The integral for $M_{\rm orb}^{R|R}$ is then approximated by

$$I_2(M_{\text{orb}}^{R|R}(s,t)) \approx \frac{5}{64} + \sum_{m=2}^{100} \sum_{n=2}^{300} 3(2-\delta_{mn}) \left(d_{mn} I_2\left(\frac{1}{(s-2m)(t-2n)}\right) - I_2(\operatorname{sub}_n^{(4)}(d_{mn})) \right)$$
$$= \frac{5}{64} - 0.023437499999 \approx \frac{5}{64} - \frac{3}{128}, \qquad (C.11)$$

as shown in (4.30).

D Lorentzian inversion

In this appendix we explain how to extract the CFT-data to one-loop from the double discontinuity for the SU(N) and orbifold 1-loop terms. We will follow a streamlined version of the method of [25]. The function that describes the CFT-data is given by

$$c(h,\bar{h}) = \int_0^1 \frac{dz}{z^2} k_{1-h}(z) \int_0^1 \frac{d\bar{z}}{\bar{z}^2} \frac{r_{\bar{h}}^2}{\bar{h} - 1/2} k_{\bar{h}}(\bar{z}) \frac{\mathrm{dDisc}[(z\bar{z})(\bar{z} - z)\mathcal{G}(U,V)]}{4\pi^2} , \qquad (\mathrm{D.1})$$

where $h = \frac{\Delta - \ell + 2}{2}$, $\bar{h} = \frac{\Delta + \ell + 4}{2}$ and $k_h(z) = z^h {}_2F_1(h, h, 2h, z)$ and we have also introduced

$$r_h = \frac{\Gamma(h)^2}{\Gamma(2h-1)} \,. \tag{D.2}$$

A given double trace operator with quantum numbers $\Delta = 4 + 2n + \ell + \gamma$ and ℓ produces a pole at $h = 3 + n + \gamma/2$, $\bar{h} = 4 + n + \ell + \gamma/2$. For small γ in a perturbative expansion we have

$$c(h, h+\ell+1) = \left\langle \frac{a}{2(3+n+\gamma/2-h)} \right\rangle_{n,\ell},$$
 (D.3)

where the average is among all the nearly degenerate intermediate operators (degenerate at zeroth order). The inversion integral then works as follows. The OPE data is encoded in poles in the *h*-plane. These arise from the $z \to 0$ limit of the integration, and different powers of z in that limit yield different twists. The integral over \bar{z} , on the other hand, is dual to \bar{h} and provides the spin dependence for each twist.

We will consider the inversion integral in a 1/c expansion and are interested in leading twist operators (of approximate twist 4). To order $1/c^2$ their contribution to the correlator will be of the form

$$d\text{Disc}[\mathcal{G}(U,V)] = 4\pi^2 (z\bar{z})^2 \left(h_0(\bar{z}) \log^2 z + h_1(\bar{z}) \log z + h_2(\bar{z}) \right) + \cdots$$
(D.4)

we can then perform the integral over z keeping the relevant poles in a small z expansion. We obtain

$$c(h,\bar{h}) = -\frac{R_0(h)}{(h-1)^3} - \frac{R_1(h)}{(h-1)^2} - \frac{R_2(h)}{h-1} + \cdots$$
(D.5)

where we disregard all poles in \bar{h} except the ones at $\bar{h} = 1$ and

$$R_{0}(\bar{h}) = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d\bar{z}}{\bar{z}^{2}} \frac{r_{\bar{h}}^{2}}{\bar{h} - 1/2} k_{\bar{h}}(\bar{z}) (2\bar{z}^{4}h_{0}(\bar{z})) ,$$

$$R_{1}(\bar{h}) = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d\bar{z}}{\bar{z}^{2}} \frac{r_{\bar{h}}^{2}}{\bar{h} - 1/2} k_{\bar{h}}(\bar{z}) (\bar{z}^{4}h_{1}(\bar{z})) ,$$

$$R_{2}(\bar{h}) = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d\bar{z}}{\bar{z}^{2}} \frac{r_{\bar{h}}^{2}}{\bar{h} - 1/2} k_{\bar{h}}(\bar{z}) (\bar{z}^{4}h_{2}(\bar{z})) .$$
(D.6)

These residues are related to the anomalous dimensions as follows

$$\langle a^{(0)} \left(\gamma^{(1)} \right)^2 \rangle_{\ell} = 8R_0(\bar{h}) ,$$

$$\langle a^{(0)} \gamma^{(2)} + a^{(1)} \gamma^{(1)} \rangle_{\ell} = 4R_1(\bar{h}) + 4\partial_{\bar{h}} R_0(\bar{h}) .$$
 (D.7)

Since we are only interested in the anomalous dimension, we will only compute $R_0(\bar{h})$ and $R_1(\bar{h})$ for the SU(N) and orbifold theories. For both theories we obtain

$$h_0(\bar{z}) = 6 \frac{6 - 6\bar{z} + \bar{z}^2}{\bar{z}^6} \,. \tag{D.8}$$

 $R_0(\bar{h})$ can then be easily computed and gives

$$R_0(\bar{h}) = \frac{24r_{\bar{h}}}{(\bar{h}+2)(\bar{h}-3)}.$$
 (D.9)

From this we can compute

$$\langle a^{(0)} \left(\gamma^{(1)} \right)^2 \rangle_{\ell} = a_{\ell}^{(0)} \frac{576}{(\bar{h}+2)^2 (\bar{h}-3)^2} \,.$$
 (D.10)

Next, we want to extract the one-loop anomalous dimension. From section 4.1 we find

$$h_1^{\mathrm{SU}(N)}(\bar{z}) = \frac{18\left(\bar{z}^4 + 29\bar{z}^3 - 204\bar{z}^2 + 350\bar{z} - 175\right)}{\bar{z}^8}.$$
 (D.11)

Plugging this into the formula above we find

$$R_1(\bar{h}) = \frac{36\left(\bar{h}^2 - \bar{h} - 55\right)}{(\bar{h} - 5)(\bar{h} - 3)(\bar{h} + 2)(\bar{h} + 4)}r_{\bar{h}}.$$
 (D.12)

Plugging this into the formula for $\langle a^{(0)}\gamma^{(2)} + a^{(1)}\gamma^{(1)}\rangle_{\ell}$, subtracting the corresponding tree level pieces and dividing by the GFFT coefficients, we get the c^{-2} values shown in (4.31), except for spin zero where the analytic continuation only gives the contribution $\frac{287}{6}$ that neglects the contact term ambiguity.

We can now repeat the same computation for orbifold case, where we find

$$h_{1}^{\text{orb}}(\bar{z}) = \frac{1}{262144(1-\bar{z})\bar{z}^{8}} \Big(36018675\bar{z}^{11} - 81959850\bar{z}^{10} + 59928960\bar{z}^{9} - 14292880\bar{z}^{8} \\ + 347968\bar{z}^{7} - 43008\bar{z}^{6} - 10932224\bar{z}^{5} - 8949760\bar{z}^{4} + 455073792\bar{z}^{3} - 1260945408\bar{z}^{2} \\ + 1238630400\bar{z} - 412876800 \Big) + \frac{\arctan\left(\sqrt{1-\bar{z}}\right)}{262144(1-\bar{z})^{3/2}\bar{z}^{6}} \Big(36018675\bar{z}^{10} - 105972300\bar{z}^{9} \\ + 111367200\bar{z}^{8} - 48484800\bar{z}^{7} + 7083648\bar{z}^{6} - 61440\bar{z}^{5} + 442368\bar{z}^{4} - 10616832\bar{z}^{3} \\ + 38535168\bar{z}^{2} - 47185920\bar{z} + 18874368 \Big) \,. \tag{D.13}$$

The only difference is that now the integrals cannot be done for all ℓ , but case by case they can be done, and one can also analytically continue to spin zero. The results are shown in (4.31), except for spin zero we again only get the contribution $\frac{29129625\zeta(3)+22143194}{7680}$ – 10688 log(2) that neglects the contact term ambiguity.

E Mixed correlator bootstrap setup

In this appendix we describe the setup for the numerical bootstrap with mixed correlators between the stress tensor multiplet and the next lowest half-BPS multiplet. The definitions collected from various places in the literature should be general enough to make this a useful reference for more general setups as well. We write four-point functions of $\frac{1}{2}$ -BPS operators of dimension p_i as

$$\langle S_{p_1}(x_1, y_1) \cdots S_{p_4}(x_4, y_4) \rangle \equiv T_{p_1 p_2 p_3 p_4} \mathcal{G}_{\{p_i\}}(z, \bar{z}, \alpha, \bar{\alpha}) ,$$

$$T_{p_1 p_2 p_3 p_4} = g_{12}^{\frac{p_1 + p_2}{2}} g_{34}^{\frac{p_3 + p_4}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{24}}{g_{14}}\right)^{\frac{p_2 - p_1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{13}}{g_{14}}\right)^{\frac{p_3 - p_4}{2}} ,$$
(E.1)

where

$$g_{ij} = \frac{Y_i \cdot Y_j}{x_{ij}^2}, \qquad \alpha \bar{\alpha} = \frac{1}{\sigma}, \qquad (1 - \alpha)(1 - \bar{\alpha}) = \frac{\tau}{\sigma}.$$
(E.2)

The superconformal Ward identities imply that the correlator can generally be written in the form [5, 77]

$$\mathcal{G}_{\{p_i\}}(z,\bar{z},\alpha,\bar{\alpha}) = k\chi(z,\alpha)\chi(\bar{z},\bar{\alpha}) + \frac{(z-\alpha)(z-\bar{\alpha})(\bar{z}-\alpha)(\bar{z}-\bar{\alpha})}{(\alpha-\bar{\alpha})(z-\bar{z})} \\ \times \left(-\frac{\chi(\bar{z},\bar{\alpha})f(z,\alpha)}{\alpha z(\bar{z}-\bar{\alpha})} + \frac{\chi(\bar{z},\alpha)f(z,\bar{\alpha})}{\bar{\alpha}z(\bar{z}-\alpha)} + \frac{\chi(z,\bar{\alpha})f(\bar{z},\alpha)}{\alpha\bar{z}(z-\bar{\alpha})} - \frac{\chi(z,\alpha)f(\bar{z},\bar{\alpha})}{\bar{\alpha}\bar{z}(z-\alpha)}\right) \\ + \frac{(z-\alpha)(z-\bar{\alpha})(\bar{z}-\alpha)(\bar{z}-\bar{\alpha})}{(\alpha\bar{\alpha})^2} H_{\{p_i\}}(z,\bar{z},\alpha,\bar{\alpha}),$$
(E.3)

where $k_{\{p_i\}}$ is called the unit contribution, $f_{\{p_i\}}$ is the chiral correlator and $H_{\{p_i\}}$ is the reduced correlator. These different parts can be extracted from $\mathcal{G}_{\{p_i\}}$ as follows

$$k_{\{p_i\}} = \mathcal{G}_{\{p_i\}}(z, \bar{z}, z, \bar{z}),$$

$$f_{\{p_i\}}(\bar{z}, \bar{\alpha}) = \frac{\bar{\alpha}\bar{z}}{\bar{z} - \bar{\alpha}} \left(\mathcal{G}_{\{p_i\}}(z, \bar{z}, z, \bar{\alpha}) - k_{\{p_i\}}\chi_{\{p_i\}}(\bar{z}, \bar{\alpha}) \right),$$
(E.4)

and $H_{\{p_i\}}$ is obtained by subtracting the other contributions from (E.3). The function $\chi_{\{p_i\}}$ is given by

$$\chi_{\{p_i\}}(z,\alpha) = \left(\frac{z}{\alpha}\right)^{\max(|p_{21}|,|p_{34}|)/2} \left(\frac{1-\alpha}{1-z}\right)^{\max(p_{21}+p_{34},0)/2}.$$
 (E.5)

We would like to bootstrap the contributions of long superconformal multiplets which only contribute to $H_{\{p_i\}}$. The contributions of short multiplets are completely fixed by the free theory. Combining the $k_{\{p_i\}}$ and $f_{\{p_i\}}$ from free theory with the 1 \leftrightarrow 3 crossing equation for the correlator, we derive the following crossing equations for the reduced correlators

$$\begin{split} V^2 H_{\{2222\}}(U,V) &- U^2 H_{\{2222\}}(V,U) = \frac{(V-U)(c(U+V)+1)}{c} \,, \\ V^{5/2} H_{\{2323\}}(U,V) &- U^{5/2} H_{\{2323\}}(V,U) = \frac{(V-U)\sqrt{UV}(2c(U+V)+3)}{2c} \,, \\ V^{5/2} H_{\{2233\}}(U,V) &- U^2 H_{\{3223\}}(V,U) = \frac{\sqrt{V}(6V-3U-2c)}{2c} \,, \\ V^2 H_{\{3223\}}(U,V) &- U^{5/2} H_{\{2233\}}(V,U) = \frac{\sqrt{U}(3V-6U+2c)}{2c} \,, \end{split}$$
(E.6)

where we used the notation

$$H_{\{2222\}}(z, \bar{z}, \alpha, \bar{\alpha}) = H_{\{2222\}}(U, V) , \quad H_{\{2323\}}(z, \bar{z}, \alpha, \bar{\alpha}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha\bar{\alpha}}} H_{\{2323\}}(U, V) ,$$

$$H_{\{2233\}}(z, \bar{z}, \alpha, \bar{\alpha}) = H_{\{2233\}}(U, V) , \quad H_{\{3223\}}(z, \bar{z}, \alpha, \bar{\alpha}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha\bar{\alpha}}} H_{\{3223\}}(U, V) .$$

$$(E.7)$$

The reduced correlator for $\langle 3333 \rangle$ is the only one with a non-trivial dependence on the R-symmetry cross-ratios. Its crossing equation is

$$V^{3}H_{\{3333\}}(U,V,\sigma,\tau) - \tau U^{3}H_{\{3333\}}\left(V,U,\frac{\sigma}{\tau},\frac{1}{\tau}\right) = \frac{9(4c-7)\left(V^{2}-\tau U^{2}\right)}{c(4c-3)} + U^{4}(\sigma+\tau-1)$$

+ $U^{3}(-\sigma-2\tau+V(-2\sigma-\tau+1)+1) + UV^{3}(2\sigma-\tau+1) + V^{4}(-\sigma+\tau-1)$
+ $V^{3}(\sigma-\tau+2) + \frac{9}{4c}\left(-U^{3}+\tau\left(-U\left(U^{2}+1\right)+(U-1)V+V^{3}\right)\right)$ (E.8)
+ $\sigma(U-V)\left(U^{2}+V^{2}-1\right) - UV + U + V^{3} + V\right).$

In order to make use of the full superconformal symmetry when bootstrapping the long multiplets, we have to subtract the contribution of the short multiplets to the reduced correlator

$$H_{\{p_i\}}^{\text{long}} = H_{\{p_i\}} - H_{\{p_i\}}^{\text{short}} .$$
(E.9)

The next subsections describe the derivation of $H_{\{p_i\}}^{\text{short}}$ for the mixed correlator bootstrap with external operators S_2 and S_3 . This is done in several steps. First one expands the free theory correlators in terms of superconformal blocks and then takes into account multiplet recombination in order to determine which of the short multiplets remain present when transitioning from the free to the interacting theory. These steps were done for the correlators $\langle 2222 \rangle$, $\langle 2233 \rangle$ and $\langle 3333 \rangle$ in [78] and we only have to supplement these results with the corresponding ones for $\langle 2323 \rangle$ and $\langle 3223 \rangle$. Once the contributions of the short multiplets are determined, we need to find their contributions to the reduced correlator. The decomposition (E.3) and in particular the function (E.5) were chosen in [5] in such a way that the superconformal blocks themselves have a nice decomposition. Using this representation of the superconformal blocks it is easy to read of their contribution to the reduced correlator.

E.1 Superconformal blocks

The superconformal multiplets that can be exchanged in the four-point functions we will consider can be labeled by the conformal dimension Δ , spin ℓ and SU(4) representation [m, n - m, m] of the superconformal primary of the multiplet. For expanding free theory correlators or using the recombination identity (E.30) it is also useful to label superconformal multiplets in a different way which handles the different types of multiplets on the same footing. Following [78] we can label them by their twist γ and a representation of GL(2|2) which is labeled by a Young diagram $\underline{\lambda}$ of "fat hook" shape, meaning that with λ_i the length of the *i*th row and λ_i^T the height of the *j*th column of the Young diagram,

$$\lambda_i \le 2$$
, for $i \ge 3$, $\lambda_j^T \le 2$, for $j \ge 3$. (E.10)

One can translate between the two ways of labeling using the table below. Note that for long multiplets there is a degeneracy in the description in terms of $\gamma, \underline{\lambda}$ since there are certain shift symmetries that leave Δ, ℓ, m, n unchanged.

C

$GL(2 2) \text{ rep } \underline{\lambda}$	dim Δ	spin ℓ	SU(4) rep $[m, n-m, m]$	multiplet
[0]	γ	0	$[0,\gamma,0]$	$\frac{1}{2}$ -BPS
$[\lambda, 1^{\mu}] \ (\lambda \ge 2)$	$\gamma {+} \lambda {-} 2$	$\lambda - 2$	$[\mu, \gamma{-}2\mu{-}2, \mu]$	semi-short
$[1^{\mu}]$	γ	0	$[\mu,\gamma{-}2\mu,\mu]$	$\frac{1}{4}$ -BPS
$\boxed{[\lambda_1, \lambda_2, 2^{\mu_2}, 1^{\mu_1}] \ (\lambda_2 \ge 2)}$	$\gamma + \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 - 4$	$\lambda_1 - \lambda_2$	$[\mu_1 - \mu_2, \gamma - 2\mu_1 - 4, \mu_1 - \mu_2]$	long

Table 1. Translation between $\mathcal{N} = 4$ superconformal reps and superfields $\mathcal{O}^{\gamma \underline{\lambda}}$.

The correlator $\mathcal{G}_{\{p_i\}}(z, \bar{z}, \alpha, \bar{\alpha})$ can be expanded in superconformal blocks

$$\bar{F}^{\gamma\underline{\lambda}} = \left(\frac{z\bar{z}}{\alpha\bar{\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{\gamma}{2}} F^{\alpha\beta\gamma\underline{\lambda}}, \qquad \alpha = \frac{\gamma+r}{2}, \ \beta = \frac{\gamma+s}{2}, \tag{E.11}$$

where $r = p_{21} \equiv p_2 - p_1$, $s = p_{34}$ and the definition of $F^{\alpha\beta\gamma\lambda}$ is given in [78]. The same superconformal blocks have a representation directly in terms of the components of the decomposition (E.3) due to [5]. These have separate formulae for the different types of multiplets. We can read off from table 1¹⁴

$$\frac{1}{2}
-BPS: \qquad \overline{F}^{\gamma[0]} = \mathcal{B}^{r,s}_{0,\Delta},$$
semi-short:
$$\overline{F}^{\gamma[\lambda,1^{\mu}]} = \mathcal{C}^{r,s}_{\lambda-2,\mu,\gamma-\mu-2}, \qquad \lambda \ge 2,$$

$$\frac{1}{4}
-BPS: \qquad \overline{F}^{\gamma[1^{\mu}]} = \mathcal{B}^{r,s}_{\mu,\gamma-\mu} = \mathcal{C}^{r,s}_{-1,\mu-1,\gamma-\mu-1},$$

$$\log: \quad \overline{F}^{\gamma[\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2},2^{\mu_{2},1^{\mu_{1}}}]} = \mathcal{A}^{r,s}_{\gamma+\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}-4,\lambda_{1}-\lambda_{2},\mu_{1}-\mu_{2},\gamma-\mu_{1}-\mu_{2}-4}, \qquad \lambda_{2} \ge 2.$$
(E.12)

The block for half BPS multiplets is given by 15

$$\mathcal{B}_{0,\Delta}^{r,s} = \begin{cases} k = 1, \quad f(z,\alpha) = \sum_{\substack{i=\max(|r|,|s|)\\\text{even or odd}}}^{\Delta-2} k_{0,i}^{r,s}(z,\alpha), \\ \text{even or odd} \\ H_{\Delta}^{\mathcal{B}}(z,\bar{z},\alpha,\bar{\alpha}) = (z\bar{z})^{-2} \sum_{\substack{i=\max(|r|,|s|)\\\text{even or odd}}}^{\Delta-4} \sum_{\substack{j=0\\\text{even or odd}}}^{(\Delta-4-i)/2} (-1)^{j} G_{i+j+4,j}^{r,s}(z,\bar{z}) Z_{j,i+j}^{r,s}(\alpha,\bar{\alpha}). \end{cases}$$
(E.13)

The superblocks for semi-short and quarter BPS multiplets are given by

$$\mathcal{C}_{\ell,m,n}^{r,s} = \begin{cases} k = 0, \quad f(z,\alpha) = (-1)^m \ k_{\ell+m+2,n-m}^{r,s}(z,\alpha), \\ H_{\ell,m,n}^{\mathcal{C}}(z,\bar{z},\alpha,\bar{\alpha}) = (z\bar{z})^{-2} \sum_{i=1}^m (-1)^{i-1} \ G_{6+\ell+m+n-i,\ell+i}^{r,s}(z,\bar{z}) Z_{m-i,n-i}^{r,s}(\alpha,\bar{\alpha}) \\ + (z\bar{z})^{-2} \sum_{i=0}^{i_{\max}} (-1)^{m+i} \ G_{4+\ell+n-i,2+\ell+m+i}^{r,s}(z,\bar{z}) Z_{i,n-m-i-2}^{r,s}(\alpha,\bar{\alpha}) \end{cases}$$
(E.14)

 $^{^{14}}$ We checked for that the definition of the superblocks (E.11) matches with the one below for all the cases that we are using.

 $^{^{15}\}mathrm{Here}$ we fixed several typos.

with $i_{\text{max}} = (n - m - 2 - \max(|r|, |s|))/2$. Finally we have for long multiplets

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Delta,\ell,m,n}^{r,s} = \begin{cases} k = 0, & f(z,\alpha) = 0, \\ H_{\Delta,\ell,m,n}^{\mathcal{A}}(z,\bar{z},\alpha,\bar{\alpha}) = (z\bar{z})^{-2} G_{\Delta+4,\ell}^{r,s}(z,\bar{z}) Z_{m,n}^{r,s}(\alpha,\bar{\alpha}) \end{cases}$$
(E.15)

These definitions are in terms of the usual SO(4, 2) conformal blocks

$$G_{\Delta,\ell}^{r,s}(z,\bar{z}) = \frac{z\bar{z}}{\bar{z}-z} \left[k_{\frac{\Delta-\ell-2}{2}}^{r,s}(z)k_{\frac{\Delta+\ell}{2}}^{r,s}(\bar{z}) - k_{\frac{\Delta+\ell}{2}}^{r,s}(z)k_{\frac{\Delta-\ell-2}{2}}^{r,s}(\bar{z}) \right],$$
(E.16)

$$k_h^{r,s}(z) = z^h {}_2F_1\left(h + \frac{r}{2}, h + \frac{s}{2}; 2h, z\right),$$
(E.17)

and the S_5 spherical harmonics, which are given in terms of the same functions

$$Z_{m,n}^{r,s}(\alpha,\bar{\alpha}) = (-1)^m G_{-n,m}^{-r,-s}(\alpha,\bar{\alpha}).$$
 (E.18)

We also used the notation

$$k_{j,m}^{r,s}(z,\alpha) = k_{1+\frac{m}{2}+j}^{r,s}(z)k_{-\frac{m}{2}}^{-r,-s}(\alpha).$$
(E.19)

E.2 Free theory

We begin with the correlators in the free theory

$$\begin{aligned} \langle 2222 \rangle &= a_1 (g_{12}^2 g_{34}^2 + g_{13}^2 g_{24}^2 + g_{14}^2 g_{23}^2) + a_2 (g_{12} g_{23} g_{34} g_{41} + g_{13} g_{32} g_{21} g_{14} + g_{13} g_{34} g_{42} g_{21}) \,, \\ \langle 2233 \rangle &= b_1 g_{12}^2 g_{34}^3 + b_2 \left(g_{12} g_{14} g_{23} g_{34}^2 + g_{12} g_{13} g_{24} g_{34}^2 \right) + b_3 g_{13} g_{14} g_{23} g_{24} g_{34} \,, \\ \langle 3333 \rangle &= c_1 \left(g_{14}^3 g_{23}^3 + g_{13}^3 g_{24}^3 + g_{12}^3 g_{34}^3 \right) + c_2 (g_{13} g_{14}^2 g_{24} g_{23}^2 + g_{12} g_{14}^2 g_{34} g_{23}^2 + g_{13}^2 g_{14} g_{24}^2 g_{23} \\ &\quad + g_{12}^2 g_{14} g_{34}^2 g_{23} + g_{12}^2 g_{13} g_{24} g_{34}^2 + g_{12} g_{13}^2 g_{24}^2 g_{34} \right) + c_3 g_{12} g_{13} g_{14} g_{23} g_{24} g_{34} \,, \end{aligned}$$

with

$$a_{1} = 1, \qquad a_{2} = \frac{4}{N^{2} - 1},$$

$$b_{1} = 1, \qquad b_{2} = \frac{6}{N^{2} - 1}, \qquad b_{3} = \frac{12}{N^{2} - 1},$$

$$c_{1} = 1, \qquad c_{2} = \frac{9}{N^{2} - 1}, \qquad c_{3} = \frac{18(N^{2} - 12)}{(N^{2} - 1)(N^{2} - 4)}.$$
(E.21)

The SCPW expansions of these three correlators are given by [78]

$$\langle 2222 \rangle = T_{2222} \left(1 + \sum_{\lambda \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{2[\lambda]}^{a_2} \bar{F}^{2[\lambda]} + \sum_{\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{4[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]}^{a_1,a_2} \bar{F}^{4[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]} \right) ,$$

$$\langle 2233 \rangle = T_{2233} \left(1 + \sum_{\lambda \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{2[\lambda]}^{b_2} \bar{F}^{2[\lambda]} + \sum_{\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{4[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]}^{0,b_3} \bar{F}^{4[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]} \right) ,$$

$$\langle 3333 \rangle = T_{3333} \left(1 + \sum_{\lambda \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{2[\lambda]}^{c_2} \bar{F}^{2[\lambda]} + \sum_{\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{4[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]}^{c_2,c_3} \bar{F}^{4[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]} + \sum_{\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \lambda_3 \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{6[\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\lambda_3]} \bar{F}^{6[\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\lambda_3]} \right) ,$$

$$\langle 3333 \rangle = T_{3333} \left(1 + \sum_{\lambda \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{2[\lambda]}^{c_2} \bar{F}^{2[\lambda]} + \sum_{\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{4[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]}^{c_2,c_3} \bar{F}^{4[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]} + \sum_{\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \lambda_3 \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{6[\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\lambda_3]} \bar{F}^{6[\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\lambda_3]} \right) ,$$

where the OPE coefficients for the twist 2 and 4 multiplets only differ by their dependence on the color factors

$$A_{2[\lambda]}^{a} = \frac{1 + (-1)^{\lambda}}{2} \frac{2a(\lambda!)^{2}}{(2\lambda)!}, \qquad (E.23)$$

$$ab \qquad 1 + (-1)^{\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2}} \lambda_{1}! (\lambda_{1} + 1)! (\lambda_{2}!)^{2} \left(a (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2} + 1) (\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2} + 2) + b(-1)^{\lambda_{2}}\right)$$

$$A_{4[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]}^{a,b} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{(2\lambda_2)! (2\lambda_1 + 1)!}{(2\lambda_2)! (2\lambda_1 + 1)!},$$

and the coefficients for the twist 6 operators in the $\langle 3333 \rangle$ correlator are given by

$$A_{6[\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}]} = m_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}^{+} \frac{1}{2} \Big(c_{1} \left(\lambda_{1}+2\right) \left(\lambda_{1}+3\right) \left(\lambda_{1}-\lambda_{2}+1\right) \left(\lambda_{2}+1\right) \left(\lambda_{2}+2\right) \left(\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}+4\right) \\ + 4c_{2} \left(\left(\left(-1\right)^{\lambda_{2}}+1\right) \lambda_{1} \left(\lambda_{1}+5\right)+8\left(-1\right)^{\lambda_{2}}+\left(\left(-1\right)^{\lambda_{2}}-1\right) \lambda_{2} \left(\lambda_{2}+3\right)+4\right) \right) \right), \\ A_{6[\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2},1]} = m_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}^{-} \frac{1}{4} \Big(c_{1} \left(\lambda_{1}+1\right) \left(\lambda_{1}+4\right) \left(\lambda_{1}-\lambda_{2}+1\right) \lambda_{2} \left(\lambda_{2}+3\right) \left(\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}+4\right) \\ + 4c_{2} \left(\left(-1\right)^{\lambda_{2}}-1\right) \left(\lambda_{1}-\lambda_{2}+1\right) \left(\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}+4\right) \right), \tag{E.24}$$

$$A_{6[\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2},2]} = m_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}}^{+} \frac{1}{4c_{2}} \Big(c_{1}\lambda_{1} \left(\lambda_{1}+5\right) \left(\lambda_{1}-\lambda_{2}+1\right) \left(\lambda_{2}-1\right) \left(\lambda_{2}+4\right) \left(\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2}+4\right) \Big) \Big\}$$

$${}_{6[\lambda_1,\lambda_2,2]} = m^+_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2} \frac{1}{12} \Big(c_1 \lambda_1 \left(\lambda_1 + 5\right) \left(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 + 1\right) \left(\lambda_2 - 1\right) \left(\lambda_2 + 4\right) \left(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + 4\right) \\ + 4 c_2 \left(\left(\left(-1\right)^{\lambda_2} + 1\right) \lambda_1 \left(\lambda_1 + 5\right) + \left(\left(-1\right)^{\lambda_2} - 1\right) \left(\lambda_2 - 1\right) \left(\lambda_2 + 4\right) \right) \right),$$

with

$$m_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}^{\pm} = \frac{1 \pm (-1)^{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2}}{2} \frac{(\lambda_1 + 2)!^2 (\lambda_2 + 1)!^2}{(2\lambda_1 + 4)! (2\lambda_2 + 2)!}.$$
 (E.25)

The correlators $\langle 2323 \rangle$ and $\langle 3223 \rangle$ are related to $\langle 2233 \rangle$ in (E.20) by crossing and we obtain their SCPW expansion by using the elegant method from [78] where one expands both the superconformal blocks as well as the correlator in terms of super Schur polynomials and equates the coefficients. We find the expansion

$$\langle 2323 \rangle = T_{2323} \left(\sum_{\lambda \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{3[\lambda]} \bar{F}^{3[\lambda]} + \sum_{\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{5[\lambda_1, \lambda_2]} \bar{F}^{5[\lambda_1, \lambda_2]} \right) , \qquad (E.26)$$

with the coefficients

$$A_{3[\lambda]} = \frac{\pi 2^{-4\lambda-3} \left(b_2(-1)^{\lambda} (\lambda+1) + b_3 \right) \Gamma(2\lambda+3)}{\Gamma \left(\lambda + \frac{3}{2} \right)^2} ,$$

$$A_{5[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]} = \frac{\pi \Gamma \left(\lambda_1 + 3 \right) \Gamma \left(\lambda_2 + 2 \right)}{2^{2(\lambda_1+\lambda_2)+5} \Gamma \left(\lambda_1 + \frac{5}{2} \right) \Gamma \left(\lambda_2 + \frac{3}{2} \right)} \left(2b_2 \left((-1)^{\lambda_1} \left(\lambda_1 + 2 \right) + (-1)^{\lambda_2} \left(\lambda_2 + 1 \right) \right) + b_1(-1)^{\lambda_1-\lambda_2} \left(\lambda_1 + 2 \right) \left(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 + 1 \right) \left(\lambda_2 + 1 \right) \left(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + 3 \right) \right). \quad (E.27)$$

Similarly we find the following expansion for the correlator $\langle 3223 \rangle$

$$\langle 3223 \rangle = T_{3223} \left(\sum_{\lambda \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{3[\lambda]} \bar{F}^{3[\lambda]} + \sum_{\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{5[\lambda_1, \lambda_2]} \bar{F}^{5[\lambda_1, \lambda_2]} \right) \,. \tag{E.28}$$

The OPE coefficients are in this case

$$A_{3[\lambda]} = \frac{\pi 2^{-4\lambda-3} \left(b_2(\lambda+1) + b_3(-1)^{\lambda} \right) \Gamma(2\lambda+3)}{\Gamma\left(\lambda+\frac{3}{2}\right)^2},$$

$$A_{5[\lambda_1,\lambda_2]} = \frac{\pi \Gamma\left(\lambda_1+3\right) \Gamma\left(\lambda_2+2\right)}{2^{2(\lambda_1+\lambda_2)+5} \Gamma\left(\lambda_1+\frac{5}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\lambda_2+\frac{3}{2}\right)} \left(2b_2\left((-1)^{\lambda_1} \left(\lambda_2+1\right) + (-1)^{\lambda_2} \left(\lambda_1+2\right)\right) + b_1\left(\lambda_1+2\right) \left(\lambda_1-\lambda_2+1\right) \left(\lambda_2+1\right) \left(\lambda_1+\lambda_2+3\right)\right).$$
(E.29)

E.3 Short sector in the interacting theory

In order to identify the short sector in the interacting theory it is necessary to resolve an ambiguity between short multiplets and long multiplets at the unitarity bound which is due to the recombination identity

$$\bar{F}_{\log}^{\gamma[\lambda+1,1^{\nu+1}]} \equiv \lim_{\rho \to 1} \bar{F}^{\gamma[\lambda+\rho,\rho,1^{\nu}]} = \bar{F}^{\gamma-2[\lambda+2,1^{\nu}]} + \bar{F}^{\gamma[\lambda+1,1^{\nu+1}]}.$$
 (E.30)

Here the l.h.s. is the analytic continuation of a long multiplet with $\rho = 2, 3, ...$ to the unitarity bound where it becomes equal to the sum of two short multiplets. This can be used to replace short multiplets by multiplets of higher twist γ .

For the correlators $\langle 2222 \rangle$, $\langle 2233 \rangle$ and $\langle 3333 \rangle$ the short sectors in the interacting theory were determined already in [78] and we repeat them here for convenience, supplemented with the results for $\langle 2323 \rangle$ and $\langle 3223 \rangle$. In order to resolve this ambiguity we follow section 2.4 of [27]. There it is argued that in a large c expansion the OPE coefficients of protected multiplets with twist $\gamma < \min(p_1 + p_2, p_3 + p_4)$ have to be $O(c^{-2})$. However, in the free theory correlators above, all twist 2 and twist 3 semi-short multiplets have OPE coefficients with contributions only at O(1) and $O(c^{-1})$, so we have to use (E.30) to remove them completely and replace them by twist 4 and 5 multiplets. Another way to argue is that there are no double trace semi-short operators of the form $S_q \partial^\ell S_{\tilde{q}}$ (with S_q and $S_{\tilde{q}}$ half BPS operators) of twist $q + \tilde{q} = 2$ or 3 that could be protected. For the correlators involving S_2 we thus have

$$\mathcal{G}_{\{2222\}/\{2233\}}^{\text{short}} = 1 + A_{2[0]}\bar{F}^{2[0]} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{4[\lambda]}\bar{F}^{4[\lambda]} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 1}^{\infty} A'_{4[\lambda,1]}\bar{F}^{4[\lambda,1]},
\mathcal{G}_{\{2323\}/\{3223\}}^{\text{short}} = A_{3[0]}\bar{F}^{3[0]} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 0}^{\infty} A_{5[\lambda]}\bar{F}^{5[\lambda]} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 1}^{\infty} A'_{5[\lambda,1]}\bar{F}^{5[\lambda,1]},$$
(E.31)

where

$$A'_{4[\lambda,1]} = A_{4[\lambda,1]} - A_{2[\lambda+1]},$$

$$A'_{5[\lambda,1]} = A_{5[\lambda,1]} - A_{3[\lambda+1]},$$
(E.32)

and it is understood that the different OPE coefficients for each correlator from section E.2 are used.

For the correlator $\langle 3333 \rangle$ the same argument works for the twist 2 semi-short multiplets, however the OPE coefficients of the twist 4 multiplets have terms at $\mathcal{O}(c^{-2})$, so they can be present in the interacting theory. Since these operators are non-degenerate, these OPE coefficients are however determined by OPE coefficients that appear in other correlators [78]

$$\tilde{A}_{4[\lambda]} = \frac{\left(A_{4[\lambda]}^{2233}\right)^2}{A_{4[\lambda]}^{2222}} = \frac{1+(-1)^\lambda}{2} \frac{144\lambda!(\lambda+1)!}{(N^2-1)(2\lambda+1)!\left(-\lambda(\lambda+3)+(\lambda+1)(\lambda+2)N^2+2\right)},$$

$$\tilde{A}_{4[\lambda,1]} = \frac{\left(A_{4[\lambda,1]}^{\prime 2233}\right)^2}{A_{4[\lambda,1]}^{\prime 2222}} = \frac{1 - (-1)^{\lambda}}{2} \frac{576((\lambda+1)!)^2}{(N^2 - 1)(2\lambda + 2)! (\lambda(\lambda+3)(N^2 - 1) - 12)}.$$
(E.33)

With these coefficients for the twist 4 multiplets, the short contributions are completely determined 16

$$\mathcal{G}_{\{3333\}}^{\text{short}} = c_1 + A_{2[0]} \bar{F}^{2[0]} + A_{4[0]} \bar{F}^{4[0]} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 2} \tilde{A}_{4[\lambda]} \bar{F}^{4[\lambda]} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 1} \tilde{A}_{4[\lambda,1]} \bar{F}^{4[\lambda,1]} \\
+ \sum_{\lambda \ge 0} A_{6[\lambda]} \bar{F}^{6[\lambda]} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 1} A_{6[\lambda,1]}' \bar{F}^{6[\lambda,1]} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 2} A_{6[\lambda,1,1]}' \bar{F}^{6[\lambda,1,1]} ,$$
(E.34)

with

$$A'_{6[\lambda,1]} = A_{6[\lambda,1]} - A_{4[\lambda+1]} + \tilde{A}_{4[\lambda+1]},$$

$$A'_{6[\lambda,1,1]} = A_{6[\lambda,1,1]} - A_{4[\lambda+1,1]} + A_{2[\lambda+2]} + \tilde{A}_{4[\lambda+1,1]}.$$
(E.35)

E.4 Short contributions to reduced correlators

In order to determine the protected parts of the reduced correlators, we simply read of the contributions of the superconformal blocks to $H_{\{p_i\}}$ from the definitions in section E.1

$$H_{\{2222\}/\{2233\}}^{\text{short}} = A_{4[0]}H_{4}^{\mathcal{B}} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 2}^{\infty} A_{4[\lambda]}H_{\lambda-2,0,2}^{\mathcal{C}} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 1}^{\infty} A'_{4[\lambda,1]}H_{\lambda-2,1,1}^{\mathcal{C}},$$

$$H_{\{2323\}/\{3223\}}^{\text{short}} = A_{5[0]}H_{5}^{\mathcal{B}} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 1}^{\infty} A_{5[\lambda]}H_{\lambda-2,0,3}^{\mathcal{C}} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 1}^{\infty} A'_{5[\lambda,1]}H_{\lambda-2,1,2}^{\mathcal{C}},$$

$$H_{\{3333\}}^{\text{short}} = A_{4[0]}H_{4}^{\mathcal{B}} + A_{6[0]}H_{6}^{\mathcal{B}} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 2} \tilde{A}_{4[\lambda]}H_{\lambda-2,0,2}^{\mathcal{C}} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 1} \tilde{A}_{4[\lambda,1]}H_{\lambda-2,1,1}^{\mathcal{C}} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 2} A_{6[\lambda]}H_{\lambda-2,0,4}^{\mathcal{C}} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 1} A'_{6[\lambda,1]}H_{\lambda-2,1,3}^{\mathcal{C}} + \sum_{\lambda \ge 2} A'_{6[\lambda,1,1]}H_{\lambda-2,2,2}^{\mathcal{C}}.$$
(E.36)

Now it is a matter of inserting further definitions to obtain the following expressions in terms of standard conformal blocks that can be used as input for the numerical bootstrap

$$U^{2}H_{\{2222\}}^{\text{short}}(U,V) = \left(\frac{1}{c}+2\right)G_{4,0}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z}) + \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left((-1)^{\ell}+1\right)\left(c(\ell+3)(\ell+4)+1\right)\Gamma(\ell+3)\Gamma(\ell+4)}{2c\Gamma(2\ell+6)}G_{\ell+6,\ell+2}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z}) + \sum_{\ell=-1}^{\infty} -\frac{\sqrt{\pi}2^{-2\ell-7}\left((-1)^{\ell}-1\right)\left(c(\ell+2)(\ell+5)-3\right)\Gamma(\ell+4)}{c\Gamma\left(\ell+\frac{7}{2}\right)}G_{\ell+7,\ell+1}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z}),$$
(E.37)

¹⁶We corrected the coefficient for $\bar{F}^{6[1,1]}$ in [78].

$$\begin{aligned} U^{2}H_{\{2233\}}^{\text{short}}(U,V) &= \frac{3}{c}G_{4,0}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z}) + \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{3\left((-1)^{\ell}+1\right)\Gamma(\ell+3)\Gamma(\ell+4)}{2c\Gamma(2\ell+6)}G_{\ell+6,\ell+2}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z}) \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=-1}^{\infty} \frac{3\sqrt{\pi}4^{-\ell-3}\left((-1)^{\ell}-1\right)\Gamma(\ell+4)}{c\Gamma\left(\ell+\frac{7}{2}\right)}G_{\ell+7,\ell+1}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z}), \end{aligned} \tag{E.38} \\ U^{2}H_{\{2323\}}^{\text{short}}(U,V) &= \left(\frac{3}{2c}+1\right)G_{5,0}^{1,-1}(z,\bar{z}) \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=-1}^{\infty} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}4^{-\ell-4}\left((-1)^{\ell}(\ell+4)(c(\ell+3)(\ell+5)+3)+3\right)\Gamma(\ell+5)}{c\Gamma\left(\ell+\frac{9}{2}\right)}G_{\ell+7,\ell+2}^{1,-1}(z,\bar{z}), \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=-1}^{\infty} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}2^{-2\ell-7}\left((-1)^{\ell+1}(\ell+4)(c(\ell+2)(\ell+6)-6)-12\right)\Gamma(\ell+5)}{3c\Gamma\left(\ell+\frac{9}{2}\right)}G_{\ell+8,\ell+1}^{1,-1}(z,\bar{z}), \end{aligned} \tag{E.39}$$

$$\begin{split} U^2 H^{\text{short}}_{\{3223\}}(U,V) &= \left(\frac{3}{2c} + 1\right) G^{-1,-1}_{5,0}(z,\bar{z}) \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=-1}^{\infty} \frac{\sqrt{\pi} 4^{-\ell-4} \left(c(\ell+3)(\ell+4)(\ell+5) + 3\left(\ell+(-1)^{\ell}+4\right)\right) \Gamma(\ell+5)}{c\Gamma\left(\ell+\frac{9}{2}\right)} G^{-1,-1}_{\ell+7,\ell+2}(z,\bar{z}) \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=-1}^{\infty} \frac{\sqrt{\pi} 2^{-2\ell-7} \left((\ell+4)(c(\ell+2)(\ell+6)-6) + 12(-1)^{\ell}\right) \Gamma(\ell+5)}{3c\Gamma\left(\ell+\frac{9}{2}\right)} G^{-1,-1}_{\ell+8,\ell+1}(z,\bar{z}) \,. \end{split}$$
(E.40)

and

$$H_{\{3333\}}^{\text{short}}(U, V, \sigma, \tau) = Z_{0,0} H_{\{3333\}}^{\text{short},0}(U, V) + 2Z_{0,2} H_{\{3333\}}^{\text{short},1}(U, V) - Z_{1,1} H_{\{3333\}}^{\text{short},2}(U, V) ,$$
(E.41)

depends on the spherical harmonics (E.18) for the three R-symmetry representations

$$Z_{0,0} = 1$$
, $2Z_{0,2} = \sigma + \tau - \frac{1}{3}$, $-Z_{1,1} = \sigma - \tau$. (E.42)

The three contributions are given by

$$\begin{split} U^2 H^{\text{short},0}_{\{3333\}}(U,V) &= \frac{(16c(c+6)-153)}{2c(4c-3)} G^{0,0}_{4,0}(z,\bar{z}) \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{9\left((-1)^{\ell}+1\right) \Gamma(\ell+3) \Gamma(\ell+4)}{2c(c(\ell+3)(\ell+4)+1) \Gamma(2\ell+6)} G^{0,0}_{\ell+6,\ell+2}(z,\bar{z}) \\ &- \sum_{\ell=-1}^{\infty} \frac{18\left((-1)^{\ell}-1\right) \Gamma(\ell+4)^2}{c(c(\ell+2)(\ell+5)-3) \Gamma(2\ell+7)} G^{0,0}_{\ell+7,\ell+1}(z,\bar{z}) \end{split}$$

C

$$+ \sum_{\ell=-1}^{\infty} \frac{3\sqrt{\pi}2^{-2\ell-4} \left((-1)^{\ell} - 1\right) \Gamma(\ell+5)}{\Gamma\left(\ell+\frac{9}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{1}{4c-3} - \frac{3(\ell+4)(\ell+5)}{16(c(\ell+4)(\ell+5)+1)} - \frac{3\ell(\ell+9)+76}{64c} + \frac{1}{192}(\ell+2)(\ell+4)(\ell+7)(\ell+5)\right) G_{\ell+7,\ell+3}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z})$$

$$+ \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{3\sqrt{\pi}2^{-2\ell-5} \left((-1)^{\ell} + 1\right) \Gamma(\ell+5)}{\Gamma\left(\ell+\frac{9}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{1}{4c-3} - \frac{(\ell+3)(\ell+6)}{4(c(\ell+3)(\ell+6)-3)} + \frac{(\ell+2)(\ell+7)}{16c} - \frac{1}{288}(\ell+2)(\ell+3)(\ell+7)(\ell+6)\right) G_{\ell+8,\ell+2}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z}),$$
(E.43)

$$\begin{split} U^2 H^{\text{short},1}_{\{3333\}}(U,V) &= \left(1 + \frac{9}{4c}\right) G^{0,0}_{6,0}(z,\bar{z}) \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left((-1)^{\ell} + 1\right) (\ell+4) (\ell+5) (c(\ell+3)(\ell+6) + 9) \Gamma(\ell+5)^2}{8c \Gamma(2\ell+9)} G^{0,0}_{\ell+8,\ell+2}(z,\bar{z}) \\ &- \sum_{\ell=-1}^{\infty} \frac{3\sqrt{\pi} 2^{-2\ell-5} \left((-1)^{\ell} - 1\right) \Gamma(\ell+5)}{\Gamma\left(\ell+\frac{9}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{1}{4c-3} - \frac{3(\ell+4)(\ell+5)}{16(c(\ell+4)(\ell+5)+1)} - \frac{3\ell(\ell+9) + 76}{64c} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{192} (\ell+2)(\ell+4)(\ell+7)(\ell+5) G^{0,0}_{\ell+9,\ell+1}(z,\bar{z}) \,, \end{split}$$
(E.44)

$$\begin{split} U^{2}H_{\{3333\}}^{\text{short},2}(U,V) &= \left(2 + \frac{9}{2c}\right)G_{5,1}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z}) \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left((-1)^{\ell} + 1\right)\left(\ell + 4\right)\left(\ell + 5\right)\left(c\left(\ell + 3\right)\left(\ell + 6\right) + 9\right)\Gamma\left(\ell + 5\right)^{2}}{4c\Gamma(2\ell + 9)}G_{\ell+7,\ell+3}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z}) \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \frac{3\sqrt{\pi}2^{-2\ell-5}\left((-1)^{\ell} + 1\right)\Gamma(\ell + 5)}{\Gamma\left(\ell + \frac{9}{2}\right)}\left(\frac{1}{4c-3} - \frac{\left(\ell + 3\right)\left(\ell + 6\right)}{4\left(c\left(\ell + 3\right)\left(\ell + 6\right) - 3\right)} + \frac{\left(\ell + 2\right)\left(\ell + 7\right)}{16c} \\ &- \frac{1}{288}(\ell + 2)\left(\ell + 3\right)\left(\ell + 7\right)\left(\ell + 6\right)\right)G_{\ell+9,\ell+1}^{0,0}(z,\bar{z}) \,. \end{split}$$
(E.45)

For all cases except $\langle 3333 \rangle$ it is straightforward to perform the sums using the Euler type integral representation for the hypergeometric function. For $\langle 2222 \rangle$ this leads to the known expression in [43].

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- I. Heemskerk, J. Penedones, J. Polchinski and J. Sully, *Holography from Conformal Field Theory*, JHEP 10 (2009) 079 [arXiv:0907.0151] [INSPIRE].
- [2] L. Rastelli and X. Zhou, How to Succeed at Holographic Correlators Without Really Trying, JHEP 04 (2018) 014 [arXiv:1710.05923] [INSPIRE].

- [3] L. Rastelli and X. Zhou, Holographic Four-Point Functions in the (2,0) Theory, JHEP 06 (2018) 087 [arXiv:1712.02788] [INSPIRE].
- [4] X. Zhou, On Superconformal Four-Point Mellin Amplitudes in Dimension d > 2, JHEP 08 (2018) 187 [arXiv:1712.02800] [INSPIRE].
- [5] S. Caron-Huot and A.-K. Trinh, All tree-level correlators in $AdS_5 \times S_5$ supergravity: hidden ten-dimensional conformal symmetry, JHEP **01** (2019) 196 [arXiv:1809.09173] [INSPIRE].
- [6] L. Rastelli, K. Roumpedakis and X. Zhou, AdS₃ × S³ Tree-Level Correlators: Hidden Six-Dimensional Conformal Symmetry, JHEP 10 (2019) 140 [arXiv:1905.11983] [INSPIRE].
- [7] S. Giusto, R. Russo, A. Tyukov and C. Wen, Holographic correlators in AdS₃ without Witten diagrams, JHEP 09 (2019) 030 [arXiv:1905.12314] [INSPIRE].
- [8] V. Gonçalves, R. Pereira and X. Zhou, 20' Five-Point Function from $AdS_5 \times S^5$ Supergravity, JHEP 10 (2019) 247 [arXiv:1906.05305] [INSPIRE].
- [9] L.F. Alday and X. Zhou, All Tree-Level Correlators for M-theory on $AdS_7 \times S^4$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125** (2020) 131604 [arXiv:2006.06653] [INSPIRE].
- [10] L.F. Alday and X. Zhou, All Holographic Four-Point Functions in All Maximally Supersymmetric CFTs, Phys. Rev. X 11 (2021) 011056 [arXiv:2006.12505] [INSPIRE].
- [11] L.F. Alday, C. Behan, P. Ferrero and X. Zhou, Gluon Scattering in AdS from CFT, JHEP 06 (2021) 020 [arXiv:2103.15830] [INSPIRE].
- [12] X. Zhou, On Mellin Amplitudes in SCFTs with Eight Supercharges, JHEP 07 (2018) 147
 [arXiv:1804.02397] [INSPIRE].
- [13] S. Giusto, R. Russo, A. Tyukov and C. Wen, The CFT₆ origin of all tree-level 4-point correlators in AdS₃ × S³, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 736 [arXiv:2005.08560] [INSPIRE].
- [14] S.M. Chester, S.S. Pufu and X. Yin, The M-theory S-matrix From ABJM: Beyond 11D Supergravity, JHEP 08 (2018) 115 [arXiv:1804.00949] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S.M. Chester, Genus-2 holographic correlator on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ from localization, JHEP 04 (2020) 193 [arXiv:1908.05247] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S.M. Chester and E. Perlmutter, *M-Theory Reconstruction from* (2,0) CFT and the Chiral Algebra Conjecture, JHEP 08 (2018) 116 [arXiv:1805.00892] [INSPIRE].
- [17] D.J. Binder, S.M. Chester, S.S. Pufu and Y. Wang, N = 4 Super-Yang-Mills correlators at strong coupling from string theory and localization, JHEP 12 (2019) 119 [arXiv:1902.06263]
 [INSPIRE].
- [18] D.J. Binder, S.M. Chester and S.S. Pufu, AdS_4/CFT_3 from weak to strong string coupling, JHEP **01** (2020) 034 [arXiv:1906.07195] [INSPIRE].
- [19] D.J. Binder, S.M. Chester and S.S. Pufu, Absence of D^4R^4 in M-theory From ABJM, JHEP 04 (2020) 052 [arXiv:1808.10554] [INSPIRE].
- [20] D.J. Binder, S.M. Chester and M. Jerdee, ABJ Correlators with Weakly Broken Higher Spin Symmetry, JHEP 04 (2021) 242 [arXiv:2103.01969] [INSPIRE].
- [21] S.M. Chester, M.B. Green, S.S. Pufu, Y. Wang and C. Wen, Modular invariance in superstring theory from N = 4 super-Yang-Mills, JHEP 11 (2020) 016 [arXiv:1912.13365]
 [INSPIRE].

- [22] S.M. Chester, M.B. Green, S.S. Pufu, Y. Wang and C. Wen, New modular invariants in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super-Yang-Mills theory, JHEP 04 (2021) 212 [arXiv:2008.02713] [INSPIRE].
- [23] L.F. Alday and A. Bissi, Loop Corrections to Supergravity on $AdS_5 \times S^5$, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 171601 [arXiv:1706.02388] [INSPIRE].
- [24] F. Aprile, J.M. Drummond, P. Heslop and H. Paul, Quantum Gravity from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 01 (2018) 035 [arXiv:1706.02822] [INSPIRE].
- [25] L.F. Alday and S. Caron-Huot, Gravitational S-matrix from CFT dispersion relations, JHEP 12 (2018) 017 [arXiv:1711.02031] [INSPIRE].
- [26] F. Aprile, J.M. Drummond, P. Heslop and H. Paul, Loop corrections for Kaluza-Klein AdS amplitudes, JHEP 05 (2018) 056 [arXiv:1711.03903] [INSPIRE].
- [27] F. Aprile, J. Drummond, P. Heslop and H. Paul, One-loop amplitudes in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ supergravity from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM at strong coupling, JHEP **03** (2020) 190 [arXiv:1912.01047] [INSPIRE].
- [28] L.F. Alday, On genus-one string amplitudes on $AdS_5 \times S^5$, JHEP 04 (2021) 005 [arXiv:1812.11783] [INSPIRE].
- [29] L.F. Alday and X. Zhou, Simplicity of AdS Supergravity at One Loop, JHEP 09 (2020) 008 [arXiv:1912.02663] [INSPIRE].
- [30] L.F. Alday, S.M. Chester and H. Raj, 6d (2,0) and M-theory at 1-loop, JHEP 01 (2021) 133
 [arXiv:2005.07175] [INSPIRE].
- [31] L.F. Alday, S.M. Chester and H. Raj, ABJM at Strong Coupling from M-theory, Localization, and Lorentzian Inversion, arXiv:2107.10274 [INSPIRE].
- [32] L.F. Alday, A. Bissi and X. Zhou, One-loop Gluon Amplitudes in AdS, arXiv:2110.09861 [INSPIRE].
- [33] V. Pestun, Localization of gauge theory on a four-sphere and supersymmetric Wilson loops, Commun. Math. Phys. 313 (2012) 71 [arXiv:0712.2824] [INSPIRE].
- [34] C. Montonen and D.I. Olive, Magnetic Monopoles as Gauge Particles?, Phys. Lett. B 72 (1977) 117 [INSPIRE].
- [35] H. Osborn, Topological Charges for N = 4 Supersymmetric Gauge Theories and Monopoles of Spin 1, Phys. Lett. B 83 (1979) 321 [INSPIRE].
- [36] E. Witten and D.I. Olive, Supersymmetry Algebras That Include Topological Charges, Phys. Lett. B 78 (1978) 97 [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Kapustin and E. Witten, Electric-Magnetic Duality And The Geometric Langlands Program, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 1 (2007) 1 [hep-th/0604151] [INSPIRE].
- [38] P.C. Argyres, A. Kapustin and N. Seiberg, On S-duality for non-simply-laced gauge groups, JHEP 06 (2006) 043 [hep-th/0603048] [INSPIRE].
- [39] O. Aharony, N. Seiberg and Y. Tachikawa, Reading between the lines of four-dimensional gauge theories, JHEP 08 (2013) 115 [arXiv:1305.0318] [INSPIRE].
- [40] O. Aharony, L.F. Alday, A. Bissi and E. Perlmutter, Loops in AdS from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 07 (2017) 036 [arXiv:1612.03891] [INSPIRE].
- [41] L.F. Alday, A. Bissi and E. Perlmutter, Genus-One String Amplitudes from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 06 (2019) 010 [arXiv:1809.10670] [INSPIRE].

- [42] C. Beem, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, The N = 4 Superconformal Bootstrap, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 071601 [arXiv:1304.1803] [INSPIRE].
- [43] C. Beem, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, More $\mathcal{N} = 4$ superconformal bootstrap, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 046014 [arXiv:1612.02363] [INSPIRE].
- [44] A. Bissi, A. Manenti and A. Vichi, Bootstrapping mixed correlators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills, JHEP 05 (2021) 111 [arXiv:2010.15126] [INSPIRE].
- [45] S.M. Chester and S.S. Pufu, Far beyond the planar limit in strongly-coupled $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM, JHEP 01 (2021) 103 [arXiv:2003.08412] [INSPIRE].
- [46] D. Dorigoni, M.B. Green and C. Wen, Exact properties of an integrated correlator in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SU(N) SYM, JHEP 05 (2021) 089 [arXiv:2102.09537] [INSPIRE].
- [47] F.A. Dolan and H. Osborn, Superconformal symmetry, correlation functions and the operator product expansion, Nucl. Phys. B 629 (2002) 3 [hep-th/0112251] [INSPIRE].
- [48] V. Gonçalves, Four point function of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ stress-tensor multiplet at strong coupling, JHEP 04 (2015) 150 [arXiv:1411.1675] [INSPIRE].
- [49] L.F. Alday, A. Bissi and T. Lukowski, Lessons from crossing symmetry at large N, JHEP 06 (2015) 074 [arXiv:1410.4717] [INSPIRE].
- [50] R.H. Boels and D. O'Connell, Simple superamplitudes in higher dimensions, JHEP 06 (2012) 163 [arXiv:1201.2653] [INSPIRE].
- [51] M.B. Green and P. Vanhove, Duality and higher derivative terms in M-theory, JHEP 01 (2006) 093 [hep-th/0510027] [INSPIRE].
- [52] M.B. Green, M. Gutperle and P. Vanhove, One loop in eleven-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 409 (1997) 177 [hep-th/9706175] [INSPIRE].
- [53] M.B. Green and S. Sethi, Supersymmetry constraints on type IIB supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 046006 [hep-th/9808061] [INSPIRE].
- [54] M.B. Green, H.-h. Kwon and P. Vanhove, Two loops in eleven-dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 104010 [hep-th/9910055] [INSPIRE].
- [55] M.B. Green, S.D. Miller and P. Vanhove, SL(2, Z)-invariance and D-instanton contributions to the D⁶R⁴ interaction, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 09 (2015) 307 [arXiv:1404.2192]
 [INSPIRE].
- [56] J.M. Maldacena, The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231] [hep-th/9711200]
 [INSPIRE].
- [57] E. Witten, Baryons and branes in anti-de Sitter space, JHEP 07 (1998) 006 [hep-th/9805112] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Blau, K.S. Narain and E. Gava, On subleading contributions to the AdS /CFT trace anomaly, JHEP 09 (1999) 018 [hep-th/9904179] [INSPIRE].
- [59] J. Penedones, Writing CFT correlation functions as AdS scattering amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2011) 025 [arXiv:1011.1485] [INSPIRE].
- [60] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, Analyticity and the Holographic S-matrix, JHEP 10 (2012) 127 [arXiv:1111.6972] [INSPIRE].

- [61] N.A. Nekrasov, Seiberg-Witten prepotential from instanton counting, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7 (2003) 831 [hep-th/0206161] [INSPIRE].
- [62] N. Nekrasov and A. Okounkov, Seiberg-Witten theory and random partitions, in Progress in Mathematics 244, Springer (2006), pp. 525–596 [hep-th/0306238] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A. Losev, N. Nekrasov and S.L. Shatashvili, *Issues in topological gauge theory*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 534 (1998) 549 [hep-th/9711108] [INSPIRE].
- [64] G.W. Moore, N. Nekrasov and S. Shatashvili, Integrating over Higgs branches, Commun. Math. Phys. 209 (2000) 97 [hep-th/9712241] [INSPIRE].
- [65] J.G. Russo and K. Zarembo, Massive N = 2 Gauge Theories at Large N, JHEP 11 (2013) 130 [arXiv:1309.1004] [INSPIRE].
- [66] M.L. Mehta, A Method of Integration Over Matrix Variables, Commun. Math. Phys. 79 (1981) 327 [INSPIRE].
- [67] B. Fiol, B. Garolera and G. Torrents, Exact probes of orientifolds, JHEP 09 (2014) 169 [arXiv:1406.5129] [INSPIRE].
- [68] B. Eynard, Topological expansion for the 1-Hermitian matrix model correlation functions, JHEP 11 (2004) 031 [hep-th/0407261] [INSPIRE].
- [69] B. Eynard and N. Orantin, Algebraic methods in random matrices and enumerative geometry, arXiv:0811.3531 [INSPIRE].
- [70] L.F. Alday, Large Spin Perturbation Theory for Conformal Field Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 111601 [arXiv:1611.01500] [INSPIRE].
- S. Caron-Huot, Analyticity in Spin in Conformal Theories, JHEP 09 (2017) 078
 [arXiv:1703.00278] [INSPIRE].
- [72] S.M. Chester, AdS_4/CFT_3 for unprotected operators, JHEP **07** (2018) 030 [arXiv:1803.01379] [INSPIRE].
- [73] F. Aprile, J.M. Drummond, P. Heslop and H. Paul, Unmixing Supergravity, JHEP 02 (2018)
 133 [arXiv:1706.08456] [INSPIRE].
- [74] J.M. Drummond and H. Paul, One-loop string corrections to AdS amplitudes from CFT, JHEP 03 (2021) 038 [arXiv:1912.07632] [INSPIRE].
- [75] M.B. Green, J.G. Russo and P. Vanhove, Low energy expansion of the four-particle genus-one amplitude in type-II superstring theory, JHEP 02 (2008) 020 [arXiv:0801.0322] [INSPIRE].
- [76] L.F. Alday and A. Bissi, Modular interpolating functions for N = 4 SYM, JHEP 07 (2014) 007 [arXiv:1311.3215] [INSPIRE].
- [77] F.A. Dolan and H. Osborn, Conformal partial wave expansions for N = 4 chiral four point functions, Annals Phys. 321 (2006) 581 [hep-th/0412335] [INSPIRE].
- [78] R. Doobary and P. Heslop, Superconformal partial waves in Grassmannian field theories, JHEP 12 (2015) 159 [arXiv:1508.03611] [INSPIRE].